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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The board of directors (the “Board”) of China Gamma Group
Limited (the “Company”) is pleased to present the annual
results of the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) for the financial year ended 31 March 2011.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2011, turnover of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$30,473,000, representing
an increase of approximately 710% from $3,762,000 in the
previous year ended 31 March 2010, mainly due to increase
in turnover of gamma ray irradiation services and increase in
sale of commercial properties held for sale including shops
and car park lot in Chongging, the PRC which were reclassified
as current assets during the financial year. Loss from
operations for the year amounted to HK$26,498,000 (2010:
HK$46,705,000). Net loss attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year was HK$29,203,000 (2010:
HK$51,194,000), which was mainly attributable to net realised
losses of approximately HK$7,321,000 on financial assets
held for trading in this financial year. The Group has not been
involved in the trading of any derivative financial instruments
such as equity or currency accumulators. Loss per share was
HK1.01 cents (2010: HK1.84 cents).

As at 31 March 2011, total assets and net assets of the
Group were HK$204,748,000 (2010: HK$176,855,000) and
HK$105,142,000 (2010: HK$109,157,000) respectively. The
Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2011.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in gamma ray irradiation
services, property development, rental and sales, trading of
building materials and provision of renovation services, and
securities trading and investment.

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services

During the financial year ended 31 March 2011 (the “Financial
Year"), the Group's gamma ray irradiation business, through
MERR S EBRMARZAR (Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray
Technologies Co. Limited, “Zibo Liyuan”) which is owned as
to 80% by the Company, has been gradually developing and
recorded a turnover of approximately HK$6,966,000(2010:
HK$207,000) that accounted for approximately 22.9% of
the Group's total turnover. This segment reported a profit of
approximately HK$297,000(2010: loss of HK$192,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Gamma Ray Irradiation Services (continued)

With an exclusive cooperation agreement with B A RE R E
FEEEERELR (The Academy of Military Medical Sciences),
the Group will seek to, amongst other things, enhance the
versatile of applications and make available services across
China. During the Financial Year, Zibo Liyuan extended its
reach into a number of industries and established an extensive
network of clients including medical and health product
manufacturers, pharmaceutical companies, pre-packaged
food, frozen food and food manufacturers, and pet food
manufacturers.

Property Development, Rental and Sales

Turnover generated from the property development, rental
and sales was approximately HK$22,385,000 for the year
under review (2010: HK$2,937,000). Segment loss was
HK$23,092,000 (2010: HK$27,365,000). The increase in
turnover and the decrease in segmental loss were mainly
attributable to increase in sale of commercial properties
including shops and car park lots in Chonggqing.

The Group has an entire interest in a land parcel of
approximately 5,800 square meters located in Phase Il
Phoenix Town, No. 500 Hongjin Avenue, Longxi Street, Yubei
District, Chonggqing, the PRC with a total saleable area of
approximately 35,000 square meters mainly for residential
purpose. The project, designed to develop residential
properties with ancillary commercial shops, recreational
facilities and car park lots, is at the preliminary stage of
development and is expected to be completed by year 2013.
In view of the market conditions, though the Group will still
keep the plan of developing the residential project in Yubei
District, Chongging, we do not rule out the possibilities of
divesting our current residential projects if there are any good
opportunities. The Group also has commercial properties
including shops and car park lots located in Phase | and
Phase Il at the same location which were being for sale in the
Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Property Development, Rental and Sales (continued)

On 21 January 2011, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an independent third party for
the disposal of the entire issued share capital of Beijing
Yo Luan Property Development Company Limited (“Beijing
Yo Luan"dtRREtFEHERZEER A R), in which the
Company had an indirect 90% shareholding interest, and
the loan due from Beijing Yo Luan to the Group, for a total
consideration of RMB38,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$44,659,000). Beijing Yo Luan was principally and solely
participating in the 1st level of development (—#&F %)
project at Yang Jia Yeun Village, Huai Ro Town, Huai Ro
District, Beijing, the PRC (JtRMIEREEZEBREN).
Completion of the disposal took place in February 2011.

Trading of Building Materials and Provision of Renovation
Services

The operating environments of building materials trading and
renovation services remained weak during the year under
review. Though this segment's turnover increased 81.6%
to approximately HK$1,122,000 (2010: HK$618,000), it
still suffered a loss of approximately HK$1,523,000 (2010:
HK$2,430,000), which was mainly attributable to an increase
in cost of sales.

Securities Trading and Investment

During the Financial Year, the global stock markets remained
volatile and weak given the continued weakness in US
economy and the impact of the Chinese official macro control
measures on curbing inflation by stringent monetary policies.
Due to the realised losses on equity investments held for
trading, this segment reported a loss of HK$6,238,000 (2010:
profit of HK$35,069,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EEEFwmE DM

SEGMENT RESULTS

Gamma ray irradiation services generated a turnover of
approximately HK$6,966,000 (2010: HK$207,000) with a
segment profit of approximately HK$297,000 (2010: loss of
HK$192,000).

Turnover generated from property development, rental
and sales was approximately HK$22,385,000 (2010:
HK$2,937,000). Segment loss was approximately
HK$23,092,000 (2010: HK$27,365,000).

Turnover generated from the trading of building materials and
provision of renovation services amounted to approximately
HK$1,122,000 (2010: HK$618,000). Segment loss was
approximately HK$ 1,523,000 (2010: HK$2,430,000).

For the year ended 31 March 2011, gross proceeds from
securities trading were approximately HK$36,585,000
(2010: HK$168,209,000). Segment loss was approximately
HK$6,238,000 (2010: profit of HK$35,069,000).

PROSPECT

The Company has been prudently, actively identifying and
pursuing potential projects with immense development
potentials to broaden the income base of the Group and
increase shareholders’ value. The Board considers that the
Group should continue to leverage its resources in exploring
opportunities in industries with high entry barriers but favoured
by the Chinese government policies.

The Company has entered into an agreement with its
substantial shareholder regarding its subscription for a 3-year
HK$105,000,000 convertible note with 1% coupon rate and
an initial exercise price of HK$0.27 per share, details of which
were set out in the Company's announcement dated 3 May
2011. The subscription of the convertible note will further
strengthen the Group’s financial position and will facilitate its
acquisition of potential projects in future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PROSPECT (continued)

On 3 May 2011, the Group entered into a memorandum of
understanding in relation to a proposed acquisition of 95%
interest in a mining company whose business scope includes
development of vanadium mines and mining, processing
and sale of vanadium. The vanadium mines are composed
of two vanadium mines adjacent to each other and are open
pit mines located in Xiu Shan, Chonggqing, the PRC, an area
with rich resources of different minerals such as vanadium,
manganese and molybdenum.

The Group is also exploring to participate in the rare earth
refinery and processing business in Sichuan, the PRC, one of
the largest rare earth production bases. Rare earth elements
are scarce natural resources which are indispensable for high-
technology and green energy technology products.

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (31 March 2010: Nil).

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of HK$19,757,000 (31 March 2010:
HK$7,218,000). The increase in cash and cash equivalents
was mainly due to proceeds received from disposal of a
subsidiary. Short term and long term bank borrowings as at 31
March 2011 were Nil (31 March 2010: HK$7,393,000) and
HK$9,501,000 (31 March 2010: Nil) respectively. The gearing
ratio, being the ratio of total bank borrowings to total equity
was 9% (31 March 2010: 6.8%). The liquidity ratio, being the
ratio of current assets over current liabilities, improved from
109.8% as at 31 March 2010 to 169% as at 31 March 2011.

With the financial resources available, the Group has sufficient
working capital to meet its present requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 March 2011, the Group's land use rights and certain
property, plant and equipment with carrying amount of
approximately HK$15,877,000 (31 March 2010: Nil) were
pledged to a bank to secure the bank borrowing granted to the
Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the Company had no significant
contingent liabilities (31 March 2010: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

88,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

As at 31 March 2011, the total number of issued shares of
the Company was 2,955,681,490. Save as the above, there
was no change in the share capital structure of the Company
during the period under review.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 21 January 2011, the Group entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with It REZEFEHERZER QA
(Beijing Fu Fa Property Development Company Limited) for
the disposal of the entire issued share capital of Beijing Yo
Luan Property Development Company Limited (“Beijing Yo
Luan"Jb R R Bt EHERZE B A F]), in which the Company
had an indirect 90% shareholding interest, and the loan due
from Beijing Yo Luan to the Group, for a total consideration
of RMB38,000,000. Details of the transaction were set out in
the Company's announcement dated 21 January 2011. The
transaction was completed in February 2011.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

On 8 March 2011, the Group entered into an agreement
with Citi Wonder Limited (“Citi Wonder”) and Mr. Zhuang
Xu in relation to a proposed acquisition of the entire issued
share capital of Park Target Limited (“Park Target”) and the
loan due from Park Target to Citi Wonder (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). On 3 May 2011, the parties entered into a
memorandum of understanding in relation to the Proposed
Acquisition to replace the said agreement (the “MOU").
Pursuant to the MOU, the consideration for the Proposed
Acquisition is HK$350,000,000 (to be finalized and agreed
between the parties if a formal sale and purchase agreement
will be entered into). Details of the MOU and the Proposed
Acquisition are set out in the Company’s announcement dated
3 May 2011.

Save as disclosed herein, the Group had no material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended
31 March 2011.

LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited
(“Silver Wind"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into a conditional agreement (the “Acquisition
Agreement”) with Stronway Development Limited (“Stronway
Development”), pursuant to which Silver Wind agreed to
acquire from Stronway Development the entire equity
interest in Winmax Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia").
Under the arrangement, Winmax Asia would in turn acquire
the entire equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate
Development Co. (“Jianxing”) along with Jianxing's standalone
villas development project in Beijing known as "$T2{EE".
The aggregate consideration payable for the acquisition was
RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled in cash and two
villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000 was paid under
the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway Development by Silver
Wind as deposit (the “Deposit”). Details of the acquisition are
set out in the Company's circular dated 14 December 2007.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

LITIGATIONS (continued)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things, that the
subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement was frustrated,
Silver Wind decided to terminate the Acquisition Agreement
and, through its legal representative has served a notice of
termination to Stronway Development. In order to protect the
position of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things,
the Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings
were instigated against Stronway Development on this matter
in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

As at the date of this report, the legal proceedings against
Stronway Development are still pending and there is no
significant development.

EXPOSURE TO EXCHANGE RATE RISK AND
INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group's transactions are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any
foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge against exchange
rates fluctuations. Foreign exchange risk arising from the
normal course of operations is considered to be minimal and
the management will closely monitor the fluctuation in the
currency and take appropriate actions when condition arises.

In terms of the interest rate risk exposures, the Group does not
have any significant interest rate risk as both the borrowings of
the Group and the interest rates currently remain at low levels.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2011, the Group employed 57 employees
(31 March 2010: 90). Remuneration packages are generally
structured by reference to market terms and individual merits.
Salaries are reviewed periodically based on performance
appraisal and other relevant factors. Staff benefits plans
maintained by the Group include medical insurance,
hospitalization scheme, mandatory provident fund and share
option scheme.

Employees in the PRC are remunerated according to
the prevailing market conditions in the locations of their
employments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2011 (2010: Nil).

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A subscription agreement dated 8 March 2011 (the
“Subscription Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to
the Subscription Agreement dated 3 May 2011 were entered
into between the Company and Mega Market Assets Limited
("Mega Market"), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which, Mega Market shall subscribe for the 1%
coupon 3 years unsecured convertible notes in the principal
amount of HK$105,000,000 to be issued by the Company
(the "Convertible Note"). The initial conversion price of the
Convertible Note is HK$0.27 per share (subject to adjustment
pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Note). The issue of
the Convertible Note is conditional upon, among other things,
the passing of the necessary resolution by the independent
shareholders at a special general meeting to be held by the
Company. Details of the Subscription Agreement (as amended
by the supplemental agreement) and the Convertible Note are
set out in the Company's announcement dated 3 May 2011.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my heartfelt
gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers, bankers and
professional advisors for their support of the Company over
the past year and to sincerely thank the staff for their ongoing
dedication and contribution made in the year.

On behalf of the Board

Ho Chi Ho
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 9 May 2011
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT [

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ho Chi Ho, aged 36, joined the Board on 2 March 2007.
He holds a master degree in Business Administration from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology and a
bachelor degree in Business Administration (Accounting &
Finance) from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Ho has over
13 years of experience in corporate finance with participation
in activities including mergers and acquisitions, initial public
offerings and equity syndication and has over 5 years of
experience in corporate management.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren, aged 54, joined the Board
on 24 July 2006. He had been an executive director of the
Company since 24 July 2006 and had been redesignated to
non-executive director of the Company with effect from 23
May 2008. Prior to that, Mr. Ma served as an executive director
and a company secretary of a Hong Kong listed company for
over 7 years. He has over 22 years of accounting experience
and is an associate member of both the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales and a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor, aged 55, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He is a practicing solicitor in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow
graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1981
with an honors degree in Social Science. He then obtained
an honors degree in Laws from the University of Birmingham
in England in 1987. Mr. Chow was admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1990 and has been in
private practice since then. Currently, Mr. Chow is a Partner of
Messrs. King & Wood, Solicitors, Hong Kong. He serves as an
independent non-executive director of CCT Tech International
Limited and REXLot Holdings Limited, both are listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow was also an independent
non-executive director of China Solar Energy Holdings Limited
from 5 October 1998, a listed company in Hong Kong, until
his retirement on 23 September 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SEEREREEAEBERT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, aged 50, joined the Board on 13
February 2006. He is a practising certified public accountant in
Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom.
Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He also serves
as an independent non-executive director of Sino Resources
Group Limited, a listed company in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen, aged 44, joined the Board on 30 April
2006. He holds a bachelor degree in Business Administration
and a master of science degree in Corporate Governance
and Directorship. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Mr. Chan is a practicing certified public accountant
and has extensive experience in accounting, taxation, financial
management, corporate finance and corporate governance. Mr.
Chan was an executive director of Kong Sun Holdings Limited
from February 2007 to November 2009, Amax Holdings
Limited from August 2005 to January 2009 and China
E-Learning Group Limited from July 2007 to September 2008
and was an independent non-executive director of Superb
Summit International Timber Company Limited from April
2007 to June 2010, The Hong Kong Building and Loan Agency
Limited from October 2009 to February 2011 and Richly Field
China Development Limited from February 2009 to August
2010. He is currently a non-executive director of New Times
Energy Corporation Limited, and also an independent non-
executive director of Rojam Entertainment Holdings Limited,
Asia Energy Logistics Group Limited, China Gogreen Assets
Investment Limited, China Grand Forestry Green Resources
Group Limited and U-RIGHT International Holdings Limited,
all of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Hung Hing Man, aged 40, joined the Board on 31 March
2009. He holds a masters degree in Business Administration
from the University of Western Sydney. He is a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a member of the Society
of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. Mr. Hung is currently
a proprietor of a certified public accountants firm. He has
over 14 years of working experience in corporate finance,
accounting, auditing and taxation sectors. Mr. Hung was
an independent non-executive director of SMI Corporation
Limited from July 2009 to December 2009 and is currently
an independent non-executive director of Madex International
(Holdings) Limited and Eternity Investment Limited (formerly
known as China Star Investment Holdings Limited), both are
listed companies in Hong Kong.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Chun Lam, aged 38, is the Financial Controller
and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a
bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting
with honors from Hong Kong Baptist University. He is a
fellow member of both the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has over 16 years of professional experience
in financial management and auditing.

Mr. Wong King Shiu, Daniel, aged 51, is the Vice President of
the Group and is responsible for overall strategic management,
development and marketing of the resources projects. Mr.
Wong has over 10 years of experience in natural resources
industry and served as executive director in a various natural
resources company which is listed in Hong Kong. He also has
extensive experience in the management and development of
natural resources projects in China.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SEEREREEAEBERT

Mr. Yang Zi Jiang, aged 70, is the director of a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for
the evaluation of resources projects, including geology and
exploration assessment, of the Group. Mr. Yang graduated
from Chengdu College of Geology, the PRC. He has over 35
years of experience in geological exploration, and the research
and studies of various kinds of natural resources and metals
including rare earth. Mr. Yang is one of the draftsmen of
"Fh L REE M E B & R & (Specifications for rare earth mineral
exploration) issued by the Ministry of Land and Resources of
the People’s Republic of China in 2002.

Mr. Fang Yan Qun, aged 67, is the director of a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company and is responsible for the
development and operation of resources projects, including
mineral processing. Mr. Fang graduated from Central South
University, the PRC, major in mineral processing. He has over
43 vyears of experience in natural resources industry and
specialises in processing of various kinds of mineral resources.
He has worked as an engineer, a senior engineer, and
subsequently as a professor-level senior engineer in Wuhan
Iron and Steel (Group) Limited for a period of more than 27
years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1{t¥ER%

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
March 2011.

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the "CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as promulgated
by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange”). The Group has complied with the CG Code
provisions that are considered to be relevant to the Group
save for certain deviations from the CG Code, details of which
will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this report.
The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices to ensure that these continue to meet the
requirements of the CG Code.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are summarized as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group's businesses, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of
the Company including: the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, the setting of objectives and overall strategies,
material transactions (in particular those may involve conflict
of interests), appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives. Approval has to be obtained from the
Board prior to any significant transactions entered into by these
senior executives and the Board has the full support of them
to discharge its responsibilities.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1{¥EAHE

THE BOARD (continued)

Responsibilities (continued)

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the
professional advisers, as and when required, with a view to
ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense, upon making request to the Board.

Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance
of skills and experience desirable for effective leadership of the
Company and independence in decision making.

The Company has met the recommended best practice under
the CG Code for the Board to have at least one-third of its
members comprising independent non-executive directors.

The Board of the Company as at the date of this report
comprises the following directors:

Executive director:
Mr. Ho Chi Ho

Non-executive directors:

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren

Mr. Chow Siu Ngor (Member of Audit Committee & Member of
Remuneration Committee)

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen (Chairman of Audit Committee & Member
of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Chi Yuen (Member of Audit Committee & Chairman
of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Hung Hing Man (Member of Audit Committee & Member
of Remuneration Committee)

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related financial management expertise.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1{E¥ERHE

THE BOARD (continued)

Composition (continued)

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to
the Listing Rules from time to time.

None of the members of the Board is related to one another.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive director of his independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The
Company considers all independent non-executive directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of directors are laid down in the Company's Bye-laws.

Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that all directors appointed
to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election
by shareholders at the first general meeting after their
appointment and that every director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years.

Save for Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen, none of the independent non-
executive directors is appointed for a specific term. Pursuant
to the Company's Bye-laws, all directors of the Company,
regardless of his/her term of appointment, if any, are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
Whereas pursuant to the Company's Private Act enacted in
Bermuda, managing director of the company shall not be
subject to retirement by rotation.

Under the existing Bye-laws, new director appointed to fill a
casual vacancy shall be subject to re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after his/her appointment and all
directors including Chairman (save for Managing Director) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 1{¥EA#HE

THE BOARD (continued)

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
(continued)

Though the Company has not set up a nomination committee,
the Board reviewed its own structure, size and composition
regularly to ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the business of
the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry
out the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and
time commitments of the proposed candidates, the Company's
needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged
to carry out the recruitment and selection process when
necessary.

In accordance with the Company's Bye-laws, Mr. Chow
Siu Ngor, non-executive director, and Mr. Hung Hing Man,
independent non-executive director, shall retire by rotation and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2011
annual general meeting. Detailed information of the directors
standing for re-election are contained in a circular to be
dispatched to the shareholders of the Company.

Training for Directors

Each newly appointed director received comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to
ensure that he has appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and that he is fully aware of
his responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and
relevant regulatory requirements.

The directors have access to seek professional advice on legal
and regulatory developments at the Company’s expenses
whenever feel necessary.
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THE BOARD (continued)

Remuneration of Directors

The remuneration committee was set up on 20 July 2006. The
committee was responsible for reviewing the remuneration
policy and packages of the directors and senior executives and
made recommendations about their proposals to the Board
which were determined by reference to the performance
of the individuals and the Group and market practices and
conditions on the basis of retaining and motivating executives
to pursue the growth and development of the Group.

Board and Board Committee Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings should be held at least four times
a year at approximately quarterly intervals for reviewing and
approving the financial and operating issues, and considering
and approving the overall strategies and policies of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, 5 Board meetings, 2
Audit Committee meetings and 1 Remuneration Committee
meeting were held.
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| CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT &%

THE BOARD (continued) BEEg )
Board and Board Committee Meetings (continued) EEZENEEZERER (A)
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance (continued) BEERTANEREELEF (E)

The individual attendance record of each director at the HEZZT——F=ZA=+—HIFE &
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration %%%Hﬂf‘%%’“ BEREZEghEFWE
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2011 is set out B& &% 2 RN N T

below:
Attendance/Number
of Meetings held
HEE
ERETRE

Audit Remuneration
Name of Directors Board Committee Committee
ExnR Exe ERERS® FMEES
Executive Director HITEF
— Mr. Ho Chi Ho -fASxEE 5/5 N/A i N/A i
Non-executive Directors FNITEE
— Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren - BB A 5/5 N/AT i A N/AT i A
— Mr. Chow Siu Ngor - P NETE 4/5 2/2 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors & HE#7T7EF
— Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen -BEEETE 5/5 2/2 1/1
— Mr. Chan Chi Yuen -REERLE 4/5 2/2 1/1
— Mr. Hung Hing Man - LB e 5/5 2/2 1/1
Practices and Conduct of Meetings ERERKTA
Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting EBFE@H I LTHEBATZ 2 EHERE—
are normally made available to directors in advance. BerELmESRME
Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors ZBHEHEETS R REREHIED
at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and + M KXAFEESEEL - EREMESS
committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given. Q;%%&E%Ti,\@@;% C—REeRHAE

A o
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THE BOARD (continued)

Practices and Conduct of Meetings (continued)

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and
reliable information are sent to all directors at least 3 days
before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Company and to enable them to make
informed decisions. All directors are given an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The
Board and each director also have separate and independent
access to the senior executives in order to ensure that the
directors receive adequate, complete and reliable information
in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on issues arising at
Board meetings.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details
of matters considered and decisions reached are kept by
secretary of the meetings and open for inspection by the
directors.

The Company's Bye-laws contain provisions requiring directors
to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or
any of their associates have a material interest.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Company does not at present have a Chairman nor a
Chief Executive Officer. Nevertheless, the main duties and
responsibilities of a Chairman and a Chief Executive Officer are
currently held by separate individuals with written guidelines
for the division of responsibilities with a view to maintaining
an effective segregation of duties between the management
of the Board and the day-to-day management of the Group's
business and operations.

The Company will continue to review the effectiveness of
the Group's corporate governance structure and consider the
appointment of a Chairman of the Board and a Chief Executive
Officer if candidates with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills
and experience can be identified within or outside the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ##%EJA#

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established two committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company's affairs. Both Board
committees are established with defined written terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board committees are
available to shareholders upon request.

All the members of each Board committee are independent
non-executive directors and non-executive director and the list
of the chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out under “Composition” of this report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company's expenses.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors and one non-executive director. One
meeting was held during the year ended 31 March 2011.

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee
include reviewing, making recommendations on and approving
the remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages of the executive directors and the senior executives.
The Remuneration Committee is also responsible for
establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined
by reference to the performance of the individual and the
Group as well as market practice and conditions. The Human
Resources Department is responsible for collection and
administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for
consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall consult
the Board and the management of the Company about these
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages.

EXZEE

EFEeRITHEZES  HFMEES
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors and one non-executive director (including
at least one independent non-executive director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise). None
of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of
the Company's existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
qualified accountant, internal auditor or external auditors
before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditors
by reference to the work performed by the auditors,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company's financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 March 2011 to review the financial results and
reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, report
on the Company’s internal control and risk management
review and processes and the re-appointment of the external
auditors.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management and
the Company’s external auditors the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed the auditing,
internal control and financial reporting process including the
review of the financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2011.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code")
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made to all the directors and the
directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2011.

The Company has not established written guidelines for
securities transactions by employees (the “Employees Written
Guidelines”) who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
price-sensitive information of the Company. Steps are being
taken to adopt the Employees Written Guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports,
price-sensitive announcements and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 March 2011.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on page 39 of the
annual report.
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company has not formed Nomination Committee.
According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company may
from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a director to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board. The Board also has the power to
appoint any person to be a director to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board and such appointment shall be
subject to shareholders’ approval in general meeting.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the
Company in respect of audit services and non-audit
services for the year ended 31 March 2011 amounted to
HK$1,100,000 and HK$100,000 respectively.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding
a poll on resolutions at shareholders’ meetings are contained
in the Company's Bye-laws. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the
Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a general meeting
must be taken by poll. As such, all the resolutions set out in
the notice of the annual general meeting will be voted by poll.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board.

Separate resolutions were proposed at 2010 annual general
meeting on each substantial issue, including the election of
individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and
relationships with its investors. Designated senior executives
maintain regular dialogue with institutional investors
and analysts to keep them abreast of the Company's
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to
the Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong
for any inquiries.
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INTERNAL CONTROL A &6 42

To protect its assets and to ensure the accuracy and reliability & TR#EEEE - WHREL ¥R HFERA
of the financial information that the Company employs in its B XA REM 2 BEER 2 EHEME R A%
business or releases to the public, the Company conducts 14 - 7K A 7] % 45 £ @ > (4 35 12 %Il 59 /& =2 &7
regular reviews of the effectiveness of the Group's internal &5 c M FEEH P BIEG % - E&E - 3
controls. The scope of these reviews includes, among  BIESTREKREE o

others, finance, operations, regulation compliance and risk

management.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EZE8#H&

The directors present their annual report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 6 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011
are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 41.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31
March 2011 are set out in note 42 to the financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in investment properties of the Group
during the year are set out in note 17 to the financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

88,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each were issued and
allotted during the year upon exercise of share options granted
by the Company.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 30 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive director:
Mr. Ho Chi Ho

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen
Mr. Hung Hing Man

In accordance with the Company's Bye-law 87(2), Mr. Chow
Siu Ngor and Mr. Hung Hing Man will respectively retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and, being
eligible offer themselves for re-election.

IR 2
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2011, the interests of the directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations, as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQ"), or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EZE8#H&

EERKRO HBEROKERER

Z s

Number of share

RZZT——F=ZR=+—H x2ARE
ErMBEGD ((BrLAEKI]) S
32 FE 2 ERCMPrAc ek - RBIZE
SRAEHNEARARRRBRIAE  EFRE
EZMBALTRARRREBBEEZ K
o~ HEMRD RERE Z ST

Percentage of the
issued share capital

Name of Director Type of interest options held of the Company
EARATEELT

EEn EmER FEEEREXAR BRAEB D

Ho Chi Ho Beneficial owner 225,000,000 7.61%

fAExR EmB A

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.10%

5 B 2 EmFB A

Chow Siu Ngor Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.10%

;N E E&mFAA

Wong Hoi Kuen Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.10%

=G EmBFAA

Chan Chi Yuen Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.10%

PR &R EmFAA

Hung Hing Man Beneficial owner 500,000 0.02%

FLEX

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its

BExSHAA

associated corporations as at 31 March 2011.
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SHARE OPTIONS iR RE

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out AR T Z BIE2IFE - SRNTKERE
in note 31 to the financial statements. MiEE31 ©

The movements in the share options granted under the share #HEZT——F=A=+—HIFE R
option scheme adopted by the Company on 24 April 2002 HBEARAFRNR_ZTE_FH A =0 HRN

during the year ended 31 March 2011 are shown below: ZERETER L CERESEHNOT
Number of options
EREHE
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise immediately before
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March gantof  priceper  Exercisable the respective
participant 2010 the year the year the year 2011 share options share period exercise date
BROR
SEAEH N-%-%F R-g--F ERRE 8k i BRARG
BA-AR ERRH EnfiE  EREN ZAZt-H b=k i@ B8 NEVSUTE
(HKS) (HKS)
(&7) (&7
Directors
gz
Ho Chi Ho 18,000,000 - - (18,000,000) - 17/09/2007 02420 17/09/2007 - N/A
5% 16/09/2010 R
225,000,000 - - - 225000000  11/05/2009 00730 31/07/2009 - N/A
10/05/2012 AR
(Note)
(H3E)
Ma Kwok Hung, Warren 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - N/A
S 15/09/2012 TR
- 500,000 - - 500,000 25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - N/A
24/01/2013 TR
Chow Siu Ngor 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - N/A
P& 15/08/2012 TR
- 500,000 - - 500000 25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - N/A
24/01/2013 TER
Wong Hoi Kuen 2,500,000 - - - 2500000  16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - N/A
£k 15/09/2012 TR
- 500,000 - - 500000 25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - N/A
24/01/2013 ek
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued) BRE#E)
Number of options
BREHA
Weighted average
closing price
of the shares
At Granted Exercised Lapsed At Date of Exercise immediately before
Category of 1 April during during during 31 March gantof  priceper  Exercisable the respective
participant 2010 the year the year the year 2011 share options share period exercise date
2EOR
SEAEH H-%-%8% H-%--% BhE 8k BEigd BRARG
BE-8 ERR ERfi &M ZA=T-H ek i@ B8 NEVHUTE
() )
(#7) (#7)
Directors
gz
Chan Chi Yuen 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - N/A
REE 15/09/2012 ki
- 500,000 - - 500000  25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - N/A
24/01/2013 &R
Hung Hing Man - 500,000 - - 500000 25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - N/A
AEX 240012013 TR
Others
it
Employees 500,000 - - - 500,000 16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - N/A
& 15/09/2012 TR
- 118,000,000  (61,00,000) - 57000000 25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011 - 01602
24/01/2013
Other elighle participants 54,000,000 - (27,000,000) - 27000000  16/09/2009 0.1160  16/09/2009 - 0.1280
ERRERZEN 15/09/2012
- 157,000,000 - - 157000000  25/01/2011 0.1500  25/01/2011- N/A
24/01/2013 TER
Total 307500000 277,500000  (88,000,000)  (18,000,000) 479,000,000
&8
Note: M st -

These 225,000,000 share options are vested in four tranches with (i)
20% exercisable on 31 July 2009; (ii) 20% exercisable on the date
immediately after the expiry of the 9th month of the date of grant (i.e.
11 February 2010); (iii) 30% exercisable on the date immediately
after the expiry of the 15th month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 August
2010); and (iv) 30% exercisable on the date immediately after the
expiry of the 21st month of the date of grant (i.e. 11 February 2011).

225,000,000 &M o M EHHESFE - &
F([)2000R LT NF-HA=+—BATL:
(i)20% N EEER H A BRENEAEmE B (A
ZE-TFZR+—B)ATTE  (ii)30%R &
BEREAHETREAEREAREIZE—F
FNA+T—8)FJTE  R(iv)30%7 B & 1
AHEE-_t+—EAEREBBREI ZE—F=
A+—8)A{7{E -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBT SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2011, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of
the SFO shows that the following shareholders, other than
a director or chief executive, had notified the Company of
relevant interests in the share capital of the Company:

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company

EEREROUBEHRISF 2 EF

B EXRBEEIN  RABREAEAHER
ARAFEAGE2EEALHE  HLA
NAEF A RERBE AR R S A HEAREA
B8 2 B D kBRI -

FERR

W-B——£ZA=+-8 BAATR
% R (A DIS361E T E 2 X ER R
BRMAT - THRE (EFABRTHA
BIASN) - EMBAD AR ZRAR ARA
2 AR B RS ¢

RARBDEREECOIBTERERZHRE

Percentage of

Number of the issued share
Number of issued underlying capital of
Name of shareholder Type of interest Notes ordinary shares held shares held the Company
g FrisiHE ERARE R
BRREE/HE ERER i3 EERYA RAEE REBAL
Mega Market Assets Limited Beneficial owner 1 665,097,585 388,888,888 35.66%
BB
Chan How Chung, Victor Beneficial owner/
e interest of controlled
corporation 1,2 822,647,585 388,688,888 40.99%
ERBEEN/
XEEEER
Citi Wonder Limited Beneficial owner 3 400,000,000 388,888,888 26.69%
EnkBEA
Zhuang Xu Beneficial owner/
i} interest of controlled
corporation 34 400,000,000 415,888,888 27.60%
ExBBEN/
X EEER
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Long position in the ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in
the Company (continued)

Notes:

1. Mega Market Assets Limited was interested in 665,097,585
shares and, pursuant to a subscription agreement dated 8
March 2011 (as amended by a supplemental agreement
dated 3 May 2011), Mega Market Assets Limited agreed
to subscribe for a convertible note in the principal amount
of HK$105,000,000 to be issued by the Company at an
initial conversion price of HK$0.27 per share. Accordingly,
Mega Market Assets Limited was interested in 388,888,888
underlying shares of the Company derived from the
convertible note.

2. Mega Market Assets Limited is beneficially wholly owned by
Mr. Chan How Chung, Victor. As at 31 March 2011, Mr. Chan
had a personal interest in 157,550,000 shares, representing
5.330% of the issued share capital of the Company.

3. Pursuant to a conditional sale and purchase agreement
dated 8 March 2011, Citi Wonder Limited was deemed to be
interested in 400,000,000 ordinary shares and the derivative
of 388,888,888 underlying shares of the Company. The sale
and purchase agreement was subsequently replaced by a
memorandum of understanding entered into on 3 May 2011.

4, Citi Wonder Limited is beneficially wholly owned by Mr.
Zhuang Xu. As at 31 March 2011, Mr. Zhuang had a personal
interest in 27,000,000 underlying shares of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31 March
2011.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT ZEZ=g#H&

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

A subscription agreement dated 8 March 2011 (the
“Subscription Agreement”) and a supplemental agreement to
the Subscription Agreement dated 3 May 2011 were entered
into between the Company and Mega Market Assets Limited
("Mega Market"), a substantial shareholder of the Company,
pursuant to which, Mega Market shall subscribe for the 1%
coupon 3 vyears unsecured convertible note in the principal
amount of HK$105,000,000 to be issued by the Company
(the “Convertible Note"). The initial conversion price of the
Convertible Note is HK$0.27 per share (subject to adjustment
pursuant to the terms of the Convertible Note). The issue of
the Convertible Note is conditional upon, among other things,
the passing of the necessary resolution by the independent
shareholders at a special general meeting to be held by the
Company. Details of the Subscription Agreement (as amended
by the supplemental agreement) and the Convertible Note are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 3 May 2011.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Apart from the transactions as disclosed in Note 39 to the
financial statements, no other contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the vyear, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers were less than 30% of the
Group's turnover for the year. Purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 100% of the
total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to approximately 89%.

None of the directors, or any of their associates or any other
shareholders, which, to the best knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital,
had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest suppliers
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EZE8#H&

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company's listed securities.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Board on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the directors of the Company
are decided by the Board, as authorized by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to directors and eligible employees, details of which
are set out in note 31 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Good corporate governance has always been recognized
as vital to the Group's success and to sustain development
of the Group. We commit ourselves to a high standard of
corporate governance and have devoted considerable efforts
to identifying and formulating corporate governance practices
appropriate to the Company’s need.

The Company has put in place corporate governance practices
to meet the code provisions that are considered to be
relevant to the Group and has complied with most of the
code provisions save for certain deviations from the code
provisions, details of which will be explained in the relevant
paragraphs in the Corporate Governance Report on pages
17 to 28. The Company periodically reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that these continue to meet
the requirements of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practices contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
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" DIRECTORS' REPORT #Z:&#4

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT ZTEABRERE

The Company has maintained a sufficient public float AARRBEZZE——F=A=+—H1
throughout the year ended 31 March 2011. FE—HHEFRARTARERE -
EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE “ER®SHE

Details of significant events occurring after the balance sheet #H HE# 4 EAFTBFISEH LM B R
date are set out in note 43 to the financial statements. & EE43 o

AUDITOR 3

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan retire and being eligible, offer T{IBIREHEITEER  YAEKAES
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for re- BREF - EERTRFAS FBIRE—
appointment of Ting Ho Kwan & Chan as auditor of the TERHBEREET MERSHEITAARRF
Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general %2R0 -

meeting.

On behalf of the Board REXESFE

Ho Chi Ho HITEE

Executive Director MEE

Hong Kong, 9 May 2011 EE —T——FHANH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT B #ZEEM¥®E

TING HO KWAN & CHAN
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS (PRACITSING)

9th Floor, Tung Ning Building
249-253 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHINA GAMMA GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Gamma Group Limited (the “Company”) set out on
pages 41 to 150, which comprise the consolidated and the
Company balance sheets as at 31 March 2011, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT BM#Z MRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's presentation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and
the Group as at 31 March 2011 and of the loss and cash flows
of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ting Ho Kwan & Chan
Certified Public Accountants (Practising)
Hong Kong, 9 May 2011
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

melEE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=-A=+—HILFE

2011 2010

—E——F —T-%F

NOTES HK$' 000 HK$'000

Bt & TERT FHET

Turnover EEE 7 30,473 3,762

Other revenue and H A A K

gains, net W RE 7 44,430 48,745

74,903 52,507

Cost of sales $HE B AR 10 (25,777) (1,880)

Administrative expenses THEHR (74,278) (72,408)
Impairment losses on Hith e ARTE 2

other receivables, net HEEBE F8 8 (1,346) (24,924)

Loss from operations LEBE (26,498) (46,705)

Finance costs BE B A 9 (558) (1,222)

Loss before taxation BrEtAIE B 10 (27,056) (47,927)

Taxation I 12 (3,684) (3,305)

Loss for the year REEEE (30,740) (51,232)
Attributable to: ATATRERS :

Equity holders of the Company ARAEEFEA 13 (29,203) (51,194)

Non-controlling interests iR S (1,537) (38)

(30,740) (51,232)

Basic loss per share BREXER 15 (1.01) centsflli (1.84) centsfll

FNFAOERI50EZMERUFHLEE Y

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.

Bz 2z — 80 -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME #&Z2HEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-ZF
NOTES HK$'000 HK$' 000
=2 TER FHET
Loss for the year AEEFHIE (30,740) (51,232)
Other comprehensive income:  HftZE UK :
Exchange differences — net EHERE—EH
movement in exchange reserve R E S 14 6,081 199
Total comprehensive expense AEEEEXHERE
for the year (24,659) (51,033)
Attributable to: B ALEA:
Equity holders of the Company RARERFERA (22,880) (50,995)
Non-controlling interests R (1,779) (38)
Total comprehensive expense AFEETEX AR
for the year (24,659) (51,033)

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these  EARFA9EFI50B 2 F B FLHE
consolidated financial statements. g Emk e — 8% -
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Non-current Assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties

Land use rights

Goodwill

Current Assets

Inventories

Properties under development

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables
Amount due to a non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary
Current taxation payable

Bank borrowing

Net Current Assets

Non-current Liabilities

Bank borrowing
Deferred taxation

Net Assets

HRBEE

WE - BE k&
REME

T A
Gk

RBAEE

FE

BRTME
BIKE 5 R EMEREA
BAFEFAREZ
TREE
RehRaEHAER

RERE

BN E 5 R HEMEREA
FEAS B B X B
FEE AR R R
J& A5 AN H R 3K
RITEE

RBEEFRE
FRBEE

RITIEE
EER IR

EERE

REEERER

At 31 March 2011
R-ZT——F=ZA=+—8H

2011 2010

—E——-F —E-FF

NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FTHERT FHET
16 33,804 22,770
17 - 50,967
18 12,201 12,136
19 23,592 23,592
69,597 109,465

21 32,777 375
22 41,897 40,110
23 35,198 12,008
24 5,522 7,679
25 19,757 7,218
135,151 67,390

26 59,056 34,973
27 20,827 18,985
79 -

28 - 7,393
79,962 61,351

55,189 6,039

28 9,501 -
29 10,143 6,347
19,644 6,347

105,142 109,157

PEMBEEERLZIT
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET #ZRe&E&[ERX

At 31 March 2011
R-ZE——F=ZA=+—H

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company's equity holders:
Share capital
Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total Equity

2011 2010
—E——F —ZET—FF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$' 000
[i=2 THERT FHE T
R
AAREZEE AREY
BERRHE
[N 30 29,557 28,677
f# 1 70,749 73,865
100,306 102,542
JEE RS 4,836 6,615
-y ] 105,142 109,157

The financial statements on pages 41 to 150 were approved #=Zepo W - — —4&7 AN A ERE
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 9 May  j |3 415 £ 1508 ~ BB HE - I 6

2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ho Chi Ho
MEZ
DIRECTOR
=

UTFTALTREESTERZ

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
SE%
DIRECTOR
BE

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these BN FA9EF 1508 2 Wik Btk F4R a8

consolidated financial statements.

BHR 2z — 810 -
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Non-current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries

Current Assets
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Current Liabilities
Other payables

Net Current Liabilities

Net Assets

Capital and Reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total Equity

Ho Chi Ho
MER
DIRECTOR
=

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these

financial statements.

BALANCE SHEET E&E&[E*X

FRBEE
ME  BEIRE
NN NG R

REBEE
H Al U AR TR
Ae kRS EFRAHA

REBEE

H At & R IR
HREBAEFE
BEEFE
BEXRHE

&N

ffi 178

AR

At 31 March 2011
R-ZT——F=ZA=+—8H

2011 2010
—g—-%  —T-FF

NOTES HK$' 000 HK$' 000
B 5 THET FET
16 185 289
20 84,665 88,229
84,850 88,518

23 53 104
25 508 1,922
561 2,026

26 9,622 5,579
(9,061) (3,553)

75,789 84,965

30 29,557 28,677
32 46,232 56,288
75,789 84,965

Ma Kwok Hung, Warren
BE#
DIRECTOR
EE

FNFA9EF 1508 2 M i Bt F 3,
=2 Ak o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY #HefEmgsk
For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=ZA=+—HIEFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ALAREREARE
Share  Capital Share Non-
Share  premium redemption  options  Exchange  Special Contributed Accumulated controlling
capital  account  reseve  reseve  reseve  reseve  surplus  losses Total  interests Total
& gr  BRE FER
ke EEE FORRE % EXRE RHUBE HARR ZHEB 4% B £%
HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
Tér  FEx  TEr  TEr  TEr  TEx  TEr TEr TEr TEn TEn
Balance at 1 Apiil 2009 RZESNEMA-BzE8 5344 593840 13878 6956 103 78176 684966 (1252858) 130405 - 130405
Loss for the year FEEEE - - - - - - - (51,194)  (51194) (38) (5123
Other comprehensive income—— EH2ERA - - - - 199 - - - 199 - 199
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBAF - - - - - - - - - 6,653 6,653
Bonus issue of shares B 0505 (22509) - - - - - - - - -
Share options granted RiERE - - ALY - - - - T4 - 744
Evercise of share options fifemRE 88 20504 - (5344) - - - - 15988 - 15988
Transfer on lapse of BREsnEE
share options - - - (938) - - - 938 - - -
Balance at 31 March 2010 RZF-3F=A=1-HR
and 1 April 2010 CE-TEMA-HZER 6T 50183 13878 7818 300 78176 684966 (1303114) 10258 6615 10157
Loss for the year FEEEE - - - - - - - (29203 (29203 (1537)  (30,740)
Other comprehensive income £ 2 - - - - 6323 - - - 6323 242) 6081
Shae ptions granted RiBRE - - -8 - - - -8 - 83
Evercise of share options fbERE 880 13,700 - (209) - - . VYL - M
Transfer on lapse of BREXNEEE
share options - - - (ne) - - - 2,726 - - -
Balance at 31 March 2011 RIF--%=A=1-H
&S 29557 605,539 13,878 11,156 6625 78176 684966 (1329591) 100,306 4836 105,142

HNFAOEFI50E 2 M /UL FHEA R
BEER 2 — 80 °

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS #HZReREeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

2011 2010
—E——F —T-%F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Pt 3F THERT FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETER
Loss from operations 2EEBR (26,498) (46,705)
Adjustments for: RTHEBFHE:
Interest income FEWA 7 (24) (53)
Dividend income g B 7 - (16)
Depreciation of property, plant ME - HERREITE
and equipment 16 3,715 900
Amortisation of land use rights T R 18 457 37
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE  BERZE
plant and equipment 2 B8 10 14 -
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of HEREMEZ
investment properties (W) /BB (8) 9
Net realised losses/(gains) on BRATEFABRZER
financial assets at BEZEEBER/
fair value through profit or loss (fez) 558 7 7,321 (33,819)
Net unrealised gains on financial mAFEFABRRZ
assets at fair value through TREECARER
profit or loss W R 7 (1,018) (1,243)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BB A A 7 (48,924) -
Reversal of allowance for BOEWE 5 XK
impairment of doubtful debts ZEE - OFHE
on trade receivables, net 7 - (6)
Other receivables written off H th i U ZRIE i 4H 8 1,346 2,609
Prepayment for the first level — R EMRAEZEMNRE
of land development 8 - 30,357
Fair value gain on investment KREMFE 2 R EKER
properties 7 (1,098) (10,406)
Acquisition-related cost of WEME QR 2
subsidiaries L) 33 - 6,887
Share-based payment PARR AR R &8 2 3R 8,362 7,144
Exchange differences EHHMEZE 90 7
Operating cash outflows before EEESRHRI2KE
movements in working capital BeRd (56,265) (44,298)
Decrease in inventories FERSY 349 6,126
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and JEWE 5 I B fth iR 18
other receivables (g /m > (24,347) 11,917
Net proceeds on disposal of HERATEFABRZ
financial assets at fair value CREEZIF
through profit or loss RIEFHE 36,585 168,209
Decrease in property held for sales FIELEWERD 21,384 -
Increase in trade and other payables — FE{ & 5 & H #h BR B 3 1N 29,702 6,544
CASH GENERATED FROM REEDFBRE
OPERATION 7,408 148,498
Overseas tax paid BR8N TR (169) ©)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM RETBHMBRESTFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,239 148,497

cEMBEE@MER AT 201158 47



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

GeRE

2011 2010
—2——-fF —E-%F
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000
B 5 THER FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REED
Interest received B2 F 8 7 24 53
Dividend received SN ON 7 - 16
Payment for the purchase of BEWE BERRE
property, plant and equipment 2 16 (14,036) (824)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENBL 33 - (47,251)
Purchases of financial assets at fair BE T§@$1ﬁ AR
value through profit or loss LEBMEE (40,731) (134,361)
Addition of investment properties RNEREBME (15) -
Addition of properties under REREPYE
development (24) -
Proceeds from disposal of HEM B ARG HIE
a subsidiary 34 44,482 -
Refund of investment deposits ROKRERE - 30,000
Proceeds from disposal of HENE BERREL
property, plant and equipment FT 15 5038 7 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEAMHEEREEZ
available-for-sale financial assets Fris sk - 2,268
Net proceeds from disposal of HE R e
investment properties HIBFE 193 188
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETHMAREFH
ACTIVITIES (10,100) (149,911)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
New bank borrowing raised MERITIEE 9,501 7,393
Proceeds on exercise of share 1T BB AR A P15 3R
options 12,282 15,988
Advance from a non-controlling REKBERRFERRR
shareholder of a subsidiary 23R 1,842 2,743
Repayment of bank borrowing EBRERTEE (7,720) (22,748)
Interest paid BRFE (558) (1,222)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METHMERS TR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 15,347 2,154
NET INCREASE IN RERAEEHERA
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EINFEE 12,486 740
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  SHI2Ee kB ZH
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR EHE 7,218 6,448
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXEH o HE
RATE CHANGES 53 30
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZAESRBREEH
AT END OF THE YEAR 1HE 25 19,757 7,218

HNBAOEF 150 T AMELREY
HERER 22— -

The notes on pages 49 to 150 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
registered office of the Company is located at Clarendon
House, Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The
principal place of business of the Group is located at Unit
3411, 34/F, COSCO Tower, Grand Millennium Plaza, 183
Queen'’s Road Central, Hong Kong. The principal activities
of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 42.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRS"), which also include Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKAS") and Interpretations
(“Int") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These
financial statements also comply with the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
financial assets and investment properties which are
carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 5.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRS
that are first effective for the current accounting period of
the Group as follows:

B RE IR AR AL

MBBRREREE @)

ERSMASERME TRAEE
At HEERERZ R REIERT
B BT HRELER

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

Amendments to
HKFRS 5

Amendments to
HKAS 39

Improvements to
HKFRSs (2009)
HK(FRIC) — Int 17

HK(Int) 5

Business combinations

Consolidated and separate
financial statements

Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued
operations — Plan to sell
the controlling interest
in a subsidiary

Financial instruments:
Recognition and
measurement — Eligible
hedged items

Distributions of non-cash
assets to owners
Presentation of financial
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R
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statements — Classification
by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a
repayment on demand
clause

Note 4 summarise the accounting policies of the Group,
after the adoption of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Group. The adoption of the
above new or revised HKFRS has no material effect on
how the results and financial position for the current
or prior accounting periods have been prepared and
presented except that the following set out information
on the significant changes in accounting policies for
the current and prior accounting periods reflected in
these financial statements. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(a) HKFRS 3 (Revised) — “Business combinations”

As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 3 (revised
2008), any business combination acquired on or
after 1 April 2010 will be recognised in accordance
with the new requirements and detailed guidance
contained in HKFRS 3 (revised 2008). These include
the following changes in accounting policies:

— Transaction costs that the Group incurs in
connection with a business combination, such as
finder's fees, legal fees, due diligence fees, and
other professional and consulting fees, will be
expensed as incurred, whereas previously they
were accounted for as part of the cost of the
business combination and therefore impacted
the amount of goodwill recognised.

— If the Group holds interests in the acquiree
immediately prior to obtaining control, these
interests will be treated as if disposed of and re-
acquired at fair value on the date of obtaining
control. Previously, the step-up approach would
have been applied, whereby goodwill was
computed as if accumulated at each stage of the
acquisition.

— Contingent consideration will be measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes in the measurement of that contingent
consideration unrelated to facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date will
be recognised in profit or loss, whereas
previously these changes were recognised
as an adjustment to the cost of the business
combination and therefore impacted the amount
of goodwill recognised.

— If the acquiree has accumulated tax losses or
other temporary deductible differences and
these fail to meet the recognition criteria for
deferred tax assets at the date of acquisition,
then any subsequent recognition of these assets
will be recognised in profit or loss, rather than as
an adjustment to goodwill as was previously the

policy.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(a

(b)

HKFRS 3 (Revised) — “Business combinations”

(continued)

— In addition to the Group's existing policy
of measuring the non-controlling interests
(previously known as the “minority interests”)
in the acquiree at the non-controlling interest's
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net
identifiable assets, in future the Group may elect,
on a transaction by transaction basis, to measure
the non-controlling interests at fair value.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 3 (revised 2008), these new accounting
policies will be applied prospectively to any business
combinations in the current or future periods.
The new policy in respect of recognition in the
movement of deferred tax assets will also be applied
prospectively to accumulated tax losses and other
temporary deductible differences acquired in previous
business combinations. No adjustments have been
made to the carrying values of assets and liabilities
that arose from business combinations whose
acquisition dates preceded the application of this
revised standard.

HKAS 27 (Revised) — “Consolidation and separate
financial statements”

As a result of the adoption of HKAS 27 (amended
2008), the following changes in policies will be
applied as from 1 April 2010:

— If the Group acquires an additional interest in
a non-wholly owned subsidiary, the transaction
will be accounted for as a transaction with equity
shareholders (the non-controlling interests)
in their capacity as owners and therefore no
goodwill will be recognised as a result of such
transactions. Similarly, if the Group disposes of
part of its interest in a subsidiary but still retains
control, this transaction will also be accounted
for as a transaction with equity shareholders
(the non-controlling interests) in their capacity
as owners and therefore no profit or loss will
be recognised as a result of such transactions.
Previously the Group treated such transactions
as step-up transactions and partial disposals,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(b) HKAS 27 (Revised) — “Consolidation and separate
financial statements” (continued)

If the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
transaction will be accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
any remaining interest retained by the Group
being recognised at fair value as if reacquired.
In addition, as a result of the adoption of the
amendments to HKFRS 5, if at the balance sheet
date the Group has the intention to dispose of
a controlling interest in a subsidiary, the entire
interest in that subsidiary will be classified as
held for sale (assuming that the held for sale
criteria in HKFRS 5 are met) irrespective of the
extent to which the Group will retain an interest.
Previously such transactions were treated as
partial disposals.

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKAS
27, these new accounting policies will be applied
prospectively to transactions in current or future
periods and therefore previous periods have not
been restated.

Other changes in accounting policies which are
relevant to the Group’s financial statements are as
follows:

As a result of the amendments to HKAS 27,
as from 1 April 2010 any losses incurred by a
non-wholly owned subsidiary will be allocated
between the controlling and non-controlling
interests in proportion to their interests in that
entity, even if this results in a deficit balance
within consolidated equity being attributed to
the non-controlling interests. Previously, if the
allocation of losses to the non-controlling interests
would have resulted in a deficit balance, the
losses were only allocated to the non-controlling
interests if the non-controlling interests were
under a binding obligation to make good the
losses. In accordance with the transitional

provisions in HKAS 27, this new accounting policy
is being applied prospectively and therefore
previous periods have not been restated.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HLLFE

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL 2. MBRRFEREE #)

STATEMENTS (continued)

©

(d)

(e

Amendments to HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets held
for sale and discontinued operations — Plan to sell
the controlling interest in a subsidiary”

The amendments to HKFRS 5 clarify that the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS other than HKFRS
5 do not apply to non-current assets (or disposal
groups) classified as held for sale or discontinued
operations unless those HKFRS require (i) specific
disclosures in respect of non-current assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for sale or
discontinued operations, or (ii) disclosures about
measurement of assets and liabilities within a
disposal group that are not within the scope of
the measurement requirement of HKFRS 5 and
the disclosures are not already provided in the
consolidated financial statements. This clarification
has no effect on the disclosures of the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 39 - “Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement — Eligible hedged
items”

The amendments to HKAS 39 have had no material
impact on the Group's financial statements as the
amendment was consistent with policies already
adopted by the Group.

Improvements to HKFRSs (2009)

Improvements to HKFRSs (2009) issued in May
2009 set out amendments to a number of HKFRS.
There are separate transitional provisions for
each standard. While the adoption of some of
the amendments results in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments has had a
significant financial impact on the Group. Details of
the key amendments most applicable to the Group
are as follows:

— HKAS 7 Statement of cash flows: requires that
only expenditure that result in a recognised asset
in the balance sheet can be classified as a cash
flow from investing activities.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

(e

®

®

Improvements to HKFRSs (2009) (continued)

—  The amendment introduced by the Improvements
to HKFRSs (2009) omnibus standard in respect
of HKAS 17, Leases, had no impact to the
Group's financial statements as the Group does
not have any Hong Kong leasehold land interest.

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 - “Distributions of non-cash
assets to owners”

HK(IFRIC) — Int 17 clarifies that a dividend payable
should be recognised when the dividend is
appropriately authorised and is no longer at the
discretion of the entity. Under HK(IFRIC) — Int 17, the
dividend should be measured at the fair value of the
assets to be distributed, and any difference between
the carrying amount of the dividend payable and the
previous carrying amount of the assets distributed
should be recognised in profit or loss when the
entity settles the dividend payable. This accounting
treatment has no material effect to the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

HK(Int) 5 — “Presentation of financial statements
— Classification by the borrower of a term loan
that contains a repayment on demand clause”
HK(Int) 5, Hong Kong Interpretation 5, clarifies that
term loans that include a clause that gives the lender
the conditional right to call the loans at any time
(“repayment on demand clause”) should be classified
by the borrower as current liabilities. HK(Int) 5
requires retrospective application. The adoption
of HK(Int) 5 has had no material impact on the
Group's financial statements as the Interpretation’s
conclusions were consistent with policies already
adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BE

3.

—ET——F=ZA=t+—HLEFE

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2011 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements.

Revised HKAS 24

KIEETBE A ST BRI F 2450

HKFRS 9

BV BREENFEIR

Improvements to HKFRS (2010)

BB MBS E LR 2 B
—TF)

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB G EANE 125 2 BF]

FEANTHE

TMIA

Income taxes

FTS

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments, new standards
and new interpretations is expected to be in the period
of initial application. So far it has concluded that the
adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the Group's results of operations and financial position.

3.

Related party disclosures

Financial instruments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out

bel

(a)

(b)

ow:

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

The results of the subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
income statement from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as
appropriate.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
Controls exists when the Group has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
In assessing control, potential voting rights that
presently are exercisable are taken into account.

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition
date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(b) MEARRFZERESS (&)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

(continued)

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into
the consolidated financial statements from the date
that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances and transactions and any
unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same
way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests (previously known as
“minority interests”) represent the equity in a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial
liability. For each business combination, the Group
can elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at their proportionate share of
the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated balance sheet within equity, separately
from equity attributable to the equity shareholders
of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the
results of the Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated income statement and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as an allocation
of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between non-controlling interests
and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loan
from holders of non-controlling interests and other
contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheet in accordance with notes 4(0) or 4(p)
depending on the nature of the liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

©

(continued)

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made
to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is
lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a
financial asset (see Note 4(h)).

In the Company's balance sheet, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss
(see Note 4(l)), unless the investment is classified
as held for sale (or included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale). The results of the
subsidiary are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividend received and receivables.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
fair value of the Group's previously held equity
interest in the acquiree; over

(i) the Group's interest in the net fair value of

the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities

measured as at the acquisition date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

©

(d)

Goodwill (continued)

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a gain on
a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill arising on a business
combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit,
or groups of cash generating units, that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see Note 4(l)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year,
any attributable amount of the purchased goodwill
is included in the calculation of profit or loss on
disposal.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Historical
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items. Cost may also
include transfers from equity of any gains/losses
on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency
purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
are expensed in profit or loss during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Property, plant and equipment (continued) d) W% -BERRK®E(E)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, less their
residual value, if any, on a straight-line method over
their estimated useful lives as follows:

Leasehold buildings 20 years
Leasehold land and buildings 30 years
Leasehold improvements 2 years
Plant and machinery 3 — 20 years
Motor vehicles 4 — 6 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 — 10 years

Construction in progress represents buildings,
structures, plant and machinery and other fixed
assets under construction or installation and is
stated at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction, installation and testing
as well as capitalised borrowing costs on related
borrowed funds during the period of construction or
installation. Construction in progress is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment or investment properties when completed
and ready for use.

The assets’ residual values (if any) and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
balance sheet date. An item of property, plant and
equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. The gain or
loss on derecognition of the asset, calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the item, is included in profit
or loss in the period the item is derecognised.

An asset's carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)

POLICIES (continued)

(e) Land use rights

Land use rights are lump sum upfront payments
to acquire long-term interest in lessee-occupied
properties. Land use rights relating to buildings of the
Group are stated at cost and are amortised over the
period of the lease on the straight-line basis to profit
or loss.
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(f) Investment properties ) rREYWH
Investment properties, being properties owned or REMEELEMEHEHEE X
held under finance leases to earn rentals are stated REURBRESKBAZYE T
in the balance sheet at fair value. Any gain or loss NAFEREEABRAIIR -
arising from a change in fair value or from the RREMELATFELBIERE
retirement or disposal of an investment property WD 7 SRR S B T AE A& 2 A
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from WaskEERERERARR &
investment properties is accounted for as described BEMEBRS WA Z TR E7 R
in note 7. i e
Gains or losses arising from the retirement or WREMEZ BERLEMEE
disposal of an investment property is determined ZEMBEREREEREE
as the difference between the net disposal IR FREREERMELE
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and B URmERHER RN ER
is recognised in profit or loss on the date of the BRAMER -
retirement or disposal.

(g) Leases (g HE
(i) Operating lease (both as the lessee or the () #EHE (FRFRABAL

lessor) FAN)

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks
and rewards of ownership are retained by the
lessor are classified as operating leases. Where
the Group is the lessee, payments made under
operating leases (net of any incentives received
from the lessor) are expensed in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by
the Group under operating leases are included
in non-current assets and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to profit
or loss in a straight line basis over the lease
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leases (continued) (g) M&E(E)

(if) Finance lease (as the lessee)

Leases of assets where the Group has
substantially obtained all the risks and rewards
of ownership are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's
commencement at the lower of the fair value
of the leased property and the present value
of the minimum lease payments. Each lease
payment is allocated between the liability and
finance charges so as to achieve a constant
rate on the finance balance outstanding. The
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in current and non-current
obligation under a finance lease. The interest
element of the finance cost is recognised in
profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The investment properties acquired
under finance leases are carried at their fair
value, while the property, plant and equipment
acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of the useful lives of the assets
or the lease terms.

(h) Financial assets

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date when the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments
are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction
costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair
value through profit or loss are initially recognised at
fair value, and transaction costs are expensed in the
statement of comprehensive income. At each balance
sheet date, the Group assesses whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired, such as a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
in an equity investment below its costs. Financial
assets other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities are further
categorised into the following classifications for the
measurement after initial recognition.

() BEHE ((EZEAHA)
AR B A E K ED AR K
EIHMEEN RS EARE
HE - -mEHEeExEENE
HEMBBEAEEEZR
FEESEAEMNZNBE
Z2EREAR - BHESY
DEABBEMVBER W
EULTEHEERBCETE
BXR . HEZEAEET (K
BMEMAT) g AR KIER
BN mEHERE - @EK
AzFMEBHEEEBRRE
FHNIBRER W
TEESHEEERBEZEH
EEX - PREMEESFAA
RHREMERBEEAFE
PR mMUABRERESAXA
RAOME  BEIEZENR
BEHEAMEAFHRAEE (LA
BREERE) TUAFE -

(h) EeREE

MAEEAREBERLEEE
THEENHESREERTNR
Z AR - RENT LA FEM
R HRABAE L IFE A FEF
ABRZEREEER - HAF
Bt ABEZEBEENTRA
FERER MXZERARZEK
SmRIMEAX - REBEGER -
AEBFERDAETMNETERE
ERTEREEATHEEM
BAE - AR E AP EKE X
ERTHREEREKRE -HBEAR
A BERARRAREGERKR
BNz EBEERVI P HERR
E—FDRBRTNIERIAGE °

PEMIBEBEBRLZI 2011 F3f



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial assets (continued) (h) emEE (&)
(i) Other financial assets at fair value through profit () ZERFEGABREME
or loss BEE

0

Investments in securities held for trading are
classified as other financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss included in current
assets and are stated in the balance sheet at
fair value. Derivatives are also categorised as
held for trading unless they are designated as
hedges. Gain or loss on the fair value changes of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are subsequently carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest
method. They arise when the Group provides
money, goods or services directly to a debtor
with no intention of trading the receivable.
They are included in current assets, except
for maturities greater than 12 months after
the balance sheet date which are classified
as non-current assets. The Group’s loans
and receivables comprise “Trade and other
receivables” and “Cash and cash equivalents” in
the consolidated balance sheet.

Inventories

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Cost includes the
acquisition cost, architect's fees and other direct costs
attributable to such properties.

Other inventories

Inventories mainly comprise building materials.
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is determined on
the basis of anticipated sales proceeds less estimated
selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

0

Q)

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to estimated sales
proceeds of the properties sold in the ordinary course
of business less costs to complete development and
estimated selling expenses.

Development cost of properties comprises land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs and
professional fees as incurred during the development
period. On completion, all development costs of the
properties are transferred to completed properties
held for sale as inventories.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and, after initial recognition, at amortised
cost less any allowance for impairment of bad and
doubtful debts, except for the following receivables:

— interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the
effect of discounting being immaterial, that
are measured at cost less any allowance for
impairment of bad and doubtful debts; and

— short term receivables with no stated interest
rate and the effect of discounting being
immaterial, that are measured at their original
invoiced amount less any allowance for
impairment of bad and doubtful debts.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets
() Impairment of investments in equity securities

and other receivables

Investment in equity securities (other than
investments in subsidiaries: see note (ii) below)
and other current and non-current receivables
that are stated at cost or amortised cost or
are classified as available-for-sale securities
are reviewed at each balance sheet date to
determine whether there is objective evidence
of impairment. Objective evidence of impairment
includes observable data that comes to the
attention of the Group about one or more of the
following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default
or delinquency in interest or principal
payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor; and

— a significant or prolonged decline in the
fair value of an investment in an equity
instrument below its cost.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

0,

Impairment of investments in equity securities
and other receivables (continued)

If any such evidence exists, any impairment loss
is determined and recognised as follows:

— For unquoted equity securities carried at
cost, the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the carrying amount
of the financial asset and the estimated
future cash flows, discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial
asset where the effect of discounting is
material. Impairment losses for equity
securities are not reversed.

— For trade and other current receivables
and other financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the
asset's carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows,
discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e. the effective
interest rate computed at initial recognition
of these assets), where the effect of
discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where financial assets
carried at amortised cost share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due
status, and have not been individually
assessed as impaired. Future cash flows
for financial assets which are assessed
for impairment collectively are based on
historical loss experience for assets with
credit risk characteristics similar to the
collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of
an impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised, the impairment loss is
reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in
the asset's carrying amount exceeding that
which would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€:HHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
() Impairment of investments in equity securities

() EERE#E)
() RAZEFREREMER

(ii)

and other receivables (continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except for
impairment losses recognised in respect of
trade debtors included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered
doubtful but not remote. In this case, the
allowance for impairment of bad and doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against trade debtors and bills
receivable directly and any amounts held in
the allowance account relating to that debt are
reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account
are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and
subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or
loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify
indicators that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

property, plant and equipment (other than
properties carried at revalued amounts);

— pre-paid interests in land use rights
classified as being held under an operating
lease;

— investments in subsidiaries (except for
those classified as held for sale or included
in a disposal group that is classified as held
for sale); and

- goodwill.

T B 18 (#8)
HNEsERKE S MEAMRK
TR ) JE MR 5 BR IR A AT UL
[B] 1 4 4% 43 2 DA TR #4 M 32 3F
B B AR R RE
BRI ERNEETHE
B o UL BT - RIE
R 2R 1B B A TR AR R BR
AR - EAXARER/ZEFR
B R BEYE - A AT U [E E
THREKEEF RPN E
WRIRHE S - EA £ EER
NA B % RN 2 & RB e % &
[l - BE 1& Y 2] 5T A £ % R
RENGR 22 BEIEZFHIE
BRABE - mERERZEME
B M BB 12 U 13 S A AT IR 2
THREERAEIREER -

(i) EfEERE

REeEAEERTeRHAE
KANEBE#L - AR R T 5 &
ERBAELRBETIRK
(BRI 2 51 2 FERH R
EERESMNBIFERER

A
— W% WEREE(EE
HEFIRNERIN)

- REAREERERA
078 B MO 2

- RBBRRzZERE (KE
BRBAEFEHERES
BRERBRBAEEL
ERBRZHERRB) &

— ﬁ:ﬁ °

I

m China Gamma Group Limited  Annual Report 2011



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset's
recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,
for goodwill, intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is
estimated annually whether or not there is any
indication of impairment.

—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its net selling price and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of
time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash flows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. cash-generated unit).

— Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss whenever the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which
it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generated units (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the
carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair
value less costs to sell, or value in use, if
determinable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

() Impairment of assets (continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill,
an impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is
not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited
to the asset's carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised in prior years.
Reversals of impairment losses are credited
to profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4, FESTTHEBRE ()

(n) Share capital (n) KA

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company's
equity share capital (Treasury shares), the
consideration paid, including any directly attributable
incremental costs (net of income taxes,) is deducted
from equity attributable to the Company's equity
holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or
disposed of. Where such shares are subsequently
sold or reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction costs
and the related income tax effects, is included in
equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders.

(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at
fair value. Except for financial guarantee liabilities
(if any) measured in accordance with Note 4(s)(i),
trade and other payables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost except for the following payables:

— short-term payables with no stated interest rate
and the effect of discounting being immaterial,
that are measured at their original invoiced
amount; and

— interest free loans from related parties without
any fixed repayment terms or the effect of
discounting being immaterial, that are measured
at cost.

(0)

PEMBEEERLZI

BB B o

ERGBRBEITHRIBRELZ
FIRRCAN (FRBL 1R ) RS 5 R
PSS Z H00RL ©

MEFMEBARBEARR 2K
BmRA (BERG) - X ffzK
B (BREEME N BEREERA
(FOBRFASHR) ) e AR R R A
ANEH ST BEERND
WS  EMBTHIHEERL -
WEBRODEREHEREHRH
17+ RMERI T UE 2 (B (FIBR(E
MEmMeBEREERXIAAEE
BFMGEHEE) St AR R AR R
BARE I ES -

FEfS 8 5 K H At AR 1E

BN E S EEMRAER AT B
R e BRI M R 4(s) (DAt B 2 Bf
BEFRAEN (WE)  ENEH
5 N EADRIBERIZEHRARA
R TEEUTEMNERE :

— SRBREHEMNKREMRERL
BEEYFEKN - RIEMNK
THARERREZETE
54

— HEEATRHERTEN
B SBERSLHURTE
WAEKX - BN RIABEE
Pk AN ) B

2011 F£ 1§



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4. T ESTHHEBE B

(p) Bank and other borrowings

(p) RITRHMEER

(@

Bank and other borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred.
Transaction costs are incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or
disposal of a financial asset or financial liability,
including fees and commissions paid to agents,
advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory
agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Bank and other borrowings are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Bank and other borrowings are classified as current
liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right
to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the balance sheet date.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the relevant amounts of tax are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates (and laws)
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

(9)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. FE€HHEHE (&)
POLICIES (continued)

(q) FrE% (&)

(9) Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, if
the deferred tax arises from initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss,
it is not accounted for. The amount of deferred
tax is measured based on the expected manner of
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of
the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews and
assesses the recognised and unrecognised deferred
tax assets and the future taxable profit to determine
whether any recognised deferred tax assets should
be derecognised and any unrecognised deferred tax
assets should be recognised.

Deferred tax asset is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€:HHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(n BI®EA
() EIKiEFIEE

(r) Employee benefits
(i) Retirement benefit costs

(i)

Payments to defined contribution plans under
the mandatory provident fund scheme and
state-managed retirement benefits scheme are
charged as expenses as they fall due.

Share-based payments

For grants of share options that are conditional
upon satisfying specified vesting conditions, the
fair value of services received is determined
by reference to the fair value of share options
granted at the grant date and is expensed on
a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (share
options reserve). At the balance sheet date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to ultimately vest. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
share options reserve. For share options that are
vested at the date of grant, the fair value of the
share options granted is expensed immediately
to profit or loss.

At the time when the share options are
exercised, the amount previously recognised in
share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€xHHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and (s) ERHUBEREN - BERR
contingent liabilities REE

(i) Financial guarantees issued () BEEHHBEERER

Financial guarantees are contracts that require
the issuer (i.e. the guarantor) to make specified
payment to reimburse the beneficiary of the
guarantee (the "holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payment when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument.

Where the Group issues a financial guarantee,
the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can
otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and
other payables. Where consideration is received
or receivable for the issuance of the guarantee,
the consideration is recognised in accordance
with the Group's policies applicable to that
category of asset. Where no such consideration
is received or receivable, an immediate
expense is recognised in profit or loss on initial
recognition of any deferred income.

The amount of the guarantee initially recognised
as deferred income is amortised in profit or
loss over the term of the guarantee as income
from financial guarantees issued. In addition,
provisions are recognised in accordance with
note (iii) below if and when (i) it becomes
probable that the holder of the guarantee will
call upon the Group under the guarantee and
(ii) the amount of that claim on the Group is
expected to exceed the amount currently carried
in trade and other payables in respect of that
guarantee, i.e. the amount initially recognised,
less accumulated amortisation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 4. T E€:HHEME &)
POLICIES (continued)

(s) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and

() CBHMBERESN BERS

contingent liabilities (continued) REEE)

(i) Contingent liabilities acquired in business (i) REBEIFPERFZHAE
combinations &
Contingent liabilities acquired as part of a EEBEHPES 2R

(ii)

business combination are initially recognised
at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition
at fair value, such contingent liabilities are
recognised at the higher of the amount initially
recognised, less accumulated amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would be
determined in accordance with note (iii) below.
Contingent liabilities acquired in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
are disclosed in accordance with note (iii)
below.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group
has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made. Where the time value of money
is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable.

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and the revenue and the costs,
if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is
recognised in profit or loss as follows:

0]

(i)

(iii)

(V)

)

(vi)

Revenue arising from gamma ray irradiation
services is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered.

Revenue arising from property management is
recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a straight line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Revenue from sales of properties is recognised
when the Group has delivered the relevant
properties to the purchaser and the collectability
of related receivable is reasonably assured.

When the renovation services are provided and
the outcome of the renovation project can be
estimated reliably, renovation service income
is recognised on the percentage of completion
method measured by reference to the value
of work carried out during the year. When the
outcome of a renovation project cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to
the extent of the project costs incurred that it is
probable will be recoverable.

Sales of building materials are recognised when
they are delivered and title has passed.

(vii) Realised gain or loss on investments held for

trading is recognised on a trade date basis whilst
unrealised gain or loss on investments held for
trading is recognised to restate to their fair value
on the balance sheet date.
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4. TESTHHEBE B
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(t) Revenue recognition (continued)
(viii) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using

the effective interest method.

(ix) Dividend income from investments is recognised

when the Group's rights to receive payment
have been established prior to the balance sheet
date.

(u) Foreign currencies translation

0)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of
each of the Group's entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the
functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HK dollars, which
is the Company’'s functional and the Group's
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting
from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or
loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a
foreign operation which are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items,
such as equity instruments held at fair value
through profit or loss, are reported as part of the
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on
non-monetary items, such as equities classified
as available-for-sale financial assets, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in equity in the fair value
reserve.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4. TESTHHEBE B

(u) Foreign currencies translation (continued)
(i) Group companies

(u) IEEBRE(E)
(iii) EHAE]

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that
have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(a) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that balance sheet;

(b) income and expenses for each financial
statements are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of
the transactions); and

(o) all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in equity in the
exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified from equity to profit
or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is
recognised.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and
translated at the year-end closing rate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

4. T ESTHHEBE B

(v) Borrowing costs (v) BERE
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the HWE 2EsEERREHEA
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying AERERGHHEECRTKE

assets, i.e. assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned

EMBRELZEEXREAST S
BRI  (FRZEFEEZ MK
Ko EZFEERAREEAKX
HERERGHHEERELER
- BAEXNREREERX
Z%E%E\ZE@M&EWAE'JQ

on the temporary investment of specific borrowings EARM 2 EE K AR
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised.

(w) Related parties (w) BEAL

For the purposes of these financial statements, a
party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(i) the party has the ability, directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, to control
the Group or exercise significant influence over

REEVBHRERRME - HEHR
THER - RIEZ T AR B AR
AR &

() ZAeEHEEIEEER—
Bk Z B D RE S AR E
B O AEENHT B RES

the Group in making financial and operating Eﬁ(ﬁﬁi B SNEHEM
policies decisions, or has joint control over the HENEHIAEER
Group;

(i) the Group and the party are subject to common (i) AEEKZF X HRES

control;

(i) the party is an associate of the Group or a joint
venture in which the Group is a venturer;

(iv) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group's parent;
or a close family member of such an individual
or is an entity under the control, joint control or
significant influence of such individuals;

(v) the party is a close member of a party referred
to in (i) or is an entity under the control,
joint control or significant influence of such
individuals; or

(vi) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Close family members of an individual are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings
with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(x) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group's
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE
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x) 7EEE
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DEHEBETRE  LDRERSIEE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-Z——F=A=1+—HILFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

5. B E A RAE )

(i) Allowance for impairment of trade and other () BRESRAEMIRIE ZEE
receivables
The Group makes allowance for impairment of bad REBBEHEWE S KHE MR
and doubtful debts based on an assessment of B2 A WERE 25 - BLRE
the recoverability of trade and other receivables. BRIEL B - e FHERBENE
Allowances are applied to trade and other receivables (L ZE R4 ea A] ge ik Uk o] - Bl
where events or changes in circumstances indicate EWE 5 Kk Eth ARIE & A B 4 -
that the balances may not be collectible. The BRI RERZBRESZTEXAH
identification of impairment of bad and doubtful BT R A Er o WE TBEI TR R R A
debts requires the use of judgement and estimates. BRIEZS 02 AR
Where the expectation is different from the original B HAM 2 FE W AR TE 2 BREE JOR
estimate, such difference will impact carrying value of BEBERE -
receivables and allowances for impairment losses in
the period in which such estimate has been changed.

(ii)) Estimated impairment of goodwill (i) AFEERE
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has REBESFRENNESENRM T4 Z
suffered any impairment, in accordance with the SR BEAABEESRE R
accounting policy stated in Note 4(l). The recoverable TEABEM KOS ELD R
amounts of cash-generating units have been BECHAAEEZETE %518
determined based on value in use calculations. These BEAME (MEE19) -
calculations require the use of estimates (Note 19).

(iii) Income taxes (iii) A8

Deferred tax asset in relation to the unused tax
losses of approximately HK$274,204,000 (2010:
HK$268,112,000) was not recognised in the Group's
consolidated balance sheet. The realisability of
the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual future profits generated are less
than expected, a material reversal of deferred tax
assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit
or loss for the period in which such a reversal takes
place.

FAKRSAMBER ZELERIE
B E #9274,204,0008 ¢t (=&
— = : 268,112,000/ 7T) I &
RAEBEZIREEEBBRARE
ROBELEHIEEECEREER
AREE B IR Z AR & kR
REAFBZERHERER -
WEBREEZ R EMNDRTE
H - BIFfgt @l RIELEHIBEEE
LEBRL  WRE@ABEEE
2 HIBRIBENER o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (continued)

(iii) Income taxes (continued)

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be
due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax expenses in the year in which such
determination is made.

(iv) Estimate of fair value of investment properties
The best evidence of fair value is current prices in an
active market for similar lease and other contracts.
In the absence of such information, the Group
determines the amount within a range of reasonable
fair value estimates. In making its judgement, the
Group considers information from a variety of sources
including:

(i) current prices in an active market for properties
of different nature, condition or location (or
subject to different lease or other contracts),
adjusted to reflect those differences.

(i) recent prices of similar properties in less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices.

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Business segments

For management purpose, the Group is organised into
four (2010: four) major operating divisions — gamma
ray irradiation services, property development, rental
and sales, trading of building materials and provision of
renovation services, and securities trading and investment.
These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports
its primary segment information.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

5. BREH A RAE &)

(i) FRIEHL (&)
REBAERENTBRBRHAE
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(iv) REMERFE 2G5
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities

An analysis of the Group's turnover, contribution to
operating results and segment assets and liabilities by

business segments is presented as follows:

2011

INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2011

REVENUE
Turnover

Segment results

Gain on disposal of & subsidiary
Unallocated other operaing income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Loss from operations
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss before non-controlling interests

W& ®
§2-8--%
ZA=T-ALEE

i
1

pEES
HEMBRANE
AOEAMEERA
AERTRAR

2EFR

BRABE
¥

RERRESAER

B RE IR AR AL

6. TEER (®)
PTHEE -EEREE
A2 REBDBAIN 2 AEEE
¥ KEXEER 2 HEERE
&
—e——%
Trading of
building
Gamma Property materials Securities
ray  development,  and provision trading
irradiation rental  of renovation and
services and sales services investment ~ Unallocated  Consolidated
BEMR
%54 NERR  E5RREHM B5EE
RiRE  HERHE RER% k%% AR &e
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tan TAn
6,966 22,385 1,122 - - 30,473
297 (23,092) (1,523) (6,238) - (30,556)
48924
120
(44,986)
(26,498)
(558)
(27,056)
(3,684)
(30,740)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RaxMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. EER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) PHEE -BEREE(F)
Trading of
building
Gamma Property materials Securities
ray  development,  and provision trading
irradiation rental  of renovation and
services and sales services  investment  Unallocated  Consolidated
BEiH
ETIE NERR>  EARRH 588
Rafkl  HERHE EB R k&% AAR &a

HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEL TERL TERL TERL TERL TR

BALANCE SHEET EEBER
AT 31 MARCH 2011 R-8--£=B=t-H
ASSETS EE
Segment assets NHEE 70,069 121,327 1L, 5,522 - 198,029
Unallocated corporate assets APRAANEE 6,719
Consolidated total assets GREESE 204,748
LIABILITIES 8f
Segment liabiities DL 9,696 52,310 135 - - 62,141
Unallocated corporate liabilties FPERAAR 37,465
Consolidated total ligbilties LARagEsR 99,606
OTHER INFORMATION A EH
FOR THE YEAR ENDED BE-E--£

31 MARCH 2011 ZREt+-BLEE
Capital additions MEERES L 13,547 61 - - 467 14,075
Depreciation and amortisation MEREH 3,705 163 58 - 246 4172
Impairment losses on other receivables  EtEWEE 7 HEEE - 1,346 - - - 1,346
Fair value gain on investment properties A%z ATERE - 1,098 - - - 1,098
Net unrealised gains on financial assets  RATEA \BHZ £ BEE

at fair value through profit or loss LREBNGEE - - - 1,018 - 1,018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEER (&)
Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued) PEMEE - EERBE(E)
2010 —E-Z
Trading of
building
Gamma Property materials Securities
i3y development,  and provision trading
iradiation rental  of renovation and
Senices and sales Senices investment ~~ Unallocated ~ Consolidated
g nEER.  ZHRREf BHEE
RiflkB  HERHE RERH% RRE AOE Fa
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
THEL THEL THEL THEL THEL TETL
INCOME STATEMENT LE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED HEZ-Z%
31 MARCH 2010 SAZT-BILEE
REVENUE &
Tumover EX% 207 2937 618 - - 3,762
Segment results PHEE (192) (27,365) (2430) 35,069 - 5,082
Unallocated other operating income APREBEEUA 240
Unallocated corporate expenses AABRARR (52,027)
Loss from operations 2EFR (46,705)
Finance costs BERK (1222)
Loss before taxation BRAER (47,927)
Tasation ik (3,305)
Loss before non-controlling interests RERRESNER (51,232)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 MARCH 2010

ASSETS
Segment assets
Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilties
Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

OTHER INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2010

Addition of goodwil

Capital additions

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses on other receivables

EERRR
R-E-2F=A=1-H

AfpER
B2-%-%%
ZA=T-HLEE

HamE
MEERER
fEREH
EENERR BERR

Fair value gain on investment properties %A% 7 ATERE

Net unrealised gains on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

BATEFHAREZERAE

LREBNEFE

Gamma
fay
irradiation
services

EIE
A1 TR
HK$'000
TEL

59,749

52

23,592
539
224

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=A=+—HILFE

6. TEEFR (@)

DEHEE BEREEE)

Trading of
buiding
Property materials Securities
development,  and provision trading
rental  of renovation and
and sales services investment ~ Unallocated ~~ Consolidated
BEMH
nEER.  EARERH E5EE
BERHE RERH% k&% AR 5a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TEn TR TR TR
101,661 1,052 11,744 - 174206
2,649
176,855
28,340 395 - - 28,787
38911
67,698
- - - - 23592
88 - - 197 824
434 69 - 210 937
24,733 - - 191 24924
10,406 - - - 10,406
- - 1243 - 1243
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

6.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)
Revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment
sales during the year (2010: Nil).

Segment results represents the profit (loss) earned
or incurred by each segment without allocation of
central administration costs including directors’ salaries,
investment and other income, finance costs, and income
tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

— all assets are allocated to reportable segments
other than current and deferred tax assets. Goodwill
is allocated to reportable segments as described
in Note 19. Assets used jointly by segments are
allocated on the basis of the revenues earned by
individual segments; and

— all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments
other than bank loans and current and deferred tax
liabilities. Liabilities for which segments are jointly
liable are allocated in proportion to segment assets.

6.

DEEFR (@)

DEEE BEREEE)
EXmEHRoWEEREINBERZ
Wik - RAFEALBAHE (ZF—
TEE) -

DEFEEEERDEERITHRER (8
REFEHS REMHEMKRA -BE
PRAR PRGBS BT - % 2 &R AT IR
M EE G (BER) - RAER
RERRE Z2MAMEE R D B ) 7¥ A
DERIRZTTIE »

MERD KRR RED EBHE DB ER
e

- FBEEEADEERHD AL (ER
HISREN IR EERIN) - BES
PABEE 193 2 75 =\ 0 B = B R
DE BN HARERZEET
RAB R D AP RELZ W T A9
i &

— FMBREHDEEHHRY G (HER
TTEREAH RN IE A B
5h) o B EFHRAE 2 BERIR
BEOMEEZLH FIADE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

6. SEGMENTAL INFORMATION (continued) 6. TEEFR (@)
Geographical segments & 2 2B
All of the Group's operations are principally located in REBABEBRETEMRESRFE
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the ARKEME (THE]) - REEZITR
“PRC"). The Group's administration is carried out in Hong TEREBETT -
Kong.
An analysis of the Group's turnover by geographical AT 2R EEZRTISE D2 &
market, irrespective of the origin of the goods and R (TwmE®mMRIERRE) 2T

services, is presented below:

2011 2010
—E——fF —E-FF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Hong Kong HE 1,122 618
The PRC i 29,351 3,144
30,473 3,762
The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of UTAREEMEMLI D 2 DB E
segment assets, and additions to goodwill and property, BEEBEALTFIEEELME  BER
plant and equipment, analysed by the geographical area L SHT
in which the assets are located:
Additions to
Carrying amount goodwill and property,
of segment assets plant and equipment
IEBERYE
2 MEEREE G
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g-—-% —T-TF —B-——%F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx  TE  FEx 0 T

Hong Kong N 12,161 14,822 - 197

The PRC a2 192,587 162,033 14,075 24,219
204,748 176,855 14,075 24,416

Information about major customers EETITEREF2EH

The Group's customer base is diversified and no single AREBZEPEMZEL  WERE

external customer exceeded 10% of the Group’s revenue B HEEZIMARBBAREFRIKA

(2010: Nil). Z10% (ZZT—ZF : &) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

7. TURNOVER, OTHER REVENUE AND GAINS, 7. &% . Hth AR W » T

NET ]

Turnover represents the aggregate of the net amounts BERBIEF MR =05 B KR EIRK
received and receivable from third parties during the year. HRRAH - AREEXE - AR
An analysis of the Group's turnover, other revenue and AR s FEAMOT

gains, net is as follows:

2011 2010
—E——-F "ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Turnover ExE
Gamma ray irradiation services income il 3% 57 4% B8 5 AR 75 U A 6,966 207
Sale proceeds from properties & AT S W ¥k PR iE FIE
held for sale 20,942 931
Properties management fees MEERE 369 1,270
Rental income from investment KREWEZHTHBA
properties 1,074 736
Renovation services KBRS 111 259
Trading of building materials BEMBES 1,011 359
30,473 3,762
Other revenue and gains, net HtWA R K F8
Interest income on financial assets W AP EABRZ
not at fair value through profit or loss €@ & E 2 F B A 24 53
Dividend income from listed investments & #& 2 f% B A - 16
Net realised (losses) gains on financial & A FEFFABZEZ
assets at fair value through CREECEEE (EB)
profit or loss Was F 58 (7,321) 33,819
Net unrealised gains on financial assets & A FEFFABZEZ
at fair value through profit or loss CREEZAER RS FRE 1,018 1,243
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary BB QA E
(Note 34) (H1734) 48,924 -~
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYE WA
properties 8 -
Fair value gain on investment REWMEZ AP EKRR
properties (Note 17) (H1at17) 1,098 10,406
Forfeited deposit ERlzE® - 2,837
Reversal of allowance for impairment BOoE5EWRKRRERE
of doubtful debts of trade HRR
receivables, net - 6
Sundry income FEEIA 679 365
44,430 48,745
74,903 52,507
Gross proceeds from securities trading #FHE & 2 a5 85 36,585 168,209
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_Z——F=A=T—HILFE

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON OTHER 8. HtEWREZREEE  F

RECEIVABLES, NET ie)
2011 2010
—2——-F —ZT-FF
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Bad debts recovered 2 U [ 5 AR - (8,042)
Other receivables written off H b JfE U BR T8 Hif 85 1,346 2,609
Prepayment for the first level of land — R TR 2 RN RIE
development (Note 23) (K15#23) - 30,357
1,346 24,924
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. REKAK
2011 2010
—E——-F —_ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TET FHET
Interest on: MR
Bank borrowing wholly repayable BERAFAZBEEZ
within five years RITEE 558 1,222
Total interest expense on financial WA FEFABRZ
liabilities not at fair value through TRAEBRZEANEX T
profit or loss 558 1,222
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

10.LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 10. BR & Al 5 18
Loss before taxation has been arrived at after charging/ BB RTEERINER (BT A) TH|EE
(crediting): ®BEL
2011 2010
—EBE——-F —ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Staff costs 8 ITHA
— directors’ remuneration (Note 11) —EEME (HiE11) 2,473 5,188
— basic salaries and other benefits —EXFH e RHEAMET 8,664 7,911
— retirement benefits scheme —RREH GBI
contributions 110 106
— share-based payments — DARR 19 /5 B Wl 2 A 3R 7,101 3,444
18,348 16,649
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BRT BN &
— current year —ARFE 1,100 1,000
— over-provision in prior years —SERFEBRERE = (95)
Depreciation and amortisation of ME - BELREITE
property, plant and equipment & Fi 684 724
Amortisation of land use rights o 3 {5 PR 8 457 37
Loss on disposal of property, HEME - BE MK E
plant and equipment ZEE 14 -
Loss on disposal of investment HEREMEZBE
properties - 9
Operating lease payments (Note 37) KEMERNR M F37) 6,547 4,426
Cost of sales 5 & A AR
— cost of inventories sold —BEEFEEKRK
(Note 21(b)) (Hti£21(b)) 21,545 1,370
— depreciation of property, —%E - BB K&EE
plant and equipment 2 & 3,031 176
— direct cost and operating —HEKRAREERX
expenses 1,201 334
Write-down of inventories 7 EHMOR 317 5,542
Rental income net of direct outgoings ~ & W AR EREZ T
of HK$NIl (2010: HK$NiIl) TET(ZE—FF:
THETT) (1,074) (736)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

11.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION INESERESHFMA L M
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEME
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed BIFH &SR LA REE
pursuant to The Rules Governing the Listing of REHEHIE 16 VGREZ A FEE
Securities on the Stock Exchange and Section 161 of EMenT

the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

Retirement
benefits Share-
Directors'  Salaries and scheme based 2011 2010
Name of directors fees  allowances contributions  payments Total Total
RKEN  URGDA ZB--F _ZT-TF
EZEH EZHMe FekRl GHEHR ERIER i @it

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR  TEx TR TER  TER  TER

Executive director HITEE

Mr. Ho Chi Ho MERLE - 600 12 1,196 1,808 453
Non-executive directors FHTES

Mr. Ma Kwok Hung, Warren BEBEE 120 - - 13 133 187
Mr. Chow Siu Ngor FIERE 120 - - 13 133 187

Independent non-executive ~ BIFHTES

directors
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRERL 120 - - 13 133 187
Mr. Chan Chi Yuen BEELL 120 - - 13 133 187
Mr. Hung Hing Man HEX &4 120 - - 13 133 187
Total 2011 “E--FHH 600 600 12 1,261 2,473 5,188
Total 2010 “E-SFEE 600 876 12 3,700
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

11.DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
AND HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

NEEREEFMALTZHE

(%)

(b) Highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2010: one) was director of the
Company whose emoluments are set out above. The

(b) BEFHMAL
ARBEEBBFMALOE—
5(-F—F%F: —B)ARAE
o OABSHERR L KB

emoluments of the remaining individuals were as ATZBEmT
follows:
2011 2010
—EBE——-F —ZE-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FTET FHET
Salaries and other benefits Fe REMEF 2,686 2,681

Retirement benefits scheme RRE T EH 8 ER
contributions 46 48

Share-based payments LARR D R A 2 3K 155 469

2,887 3,198

The emoluments of the remaining highest paid HpmemHMA LB FUAT
individuals were within the following bands: #HE -

2011 2010

—E——F —E-FTF

Number of Number of

employees employees

BEAH BEAH

Up to HK$ 1,000,000 1,000,000/ 7T LA A 3 3

HK$1,000,001 to
HK$2,000,000

1,000,001/ L&
2,000,0007% 7T

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals, including
directors and employees, as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the directors has waived any
emoluments during the year.

FARAEBEYERDERSH
MAL (BREZERES) ST
T MMERMAREE R INA
REE 2 RE S BER 2 18 - F
N BEEREEMME -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=A=+—HILFE

12.TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED N.GaRERAZHE
INCOME STATEMENT
2011 2010
—2-—F —T-FTF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
TR FHET
Taxation in the consolidated income FEWmKRANZBIIRE
statement represents:
Overseas tax: BINGEIA
Current year REE 246 -
Under-provision in previous years ERFERETT 2 1
248 1
Deferred tax (Note 29): RIERIA (F15229) -
Origination and reversal of URERE7EAREE
temporary differences 3,436 3,304
Taxation charge DIRED 3,684 3,305

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
in the financial statements as the Company and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong have no assessable profits for
both years. Taxation for the PRC subsidiaries is charged at
the appropriate current rate of taxation ruling in the PRC.

RRARQR REFENE R AR E
FEOEBERRATGH - B BN
WERELBBENGEHEME - PENE
RAHIBTIRTBUERE B R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BE

12.

—ET——F=ZA=t+—HLEFE

TAXATION IN THE CONSOLIDATED
INCOME STATEMENT (continued)

The taxation on the Group's loss before taxation differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the domestic taxation rates applicable to losses of the

12.576WERAZBIIE#7)

R AT E B 2 TR R LGERR
PFAR A BB 2 AT KT E 4 2 38
WETEERWT

consolidated companies as follows:

13.

2011 2010
—2-—-F _—ZT-ZF
HK$' 000 HK$'000
TET FHT
Loss before taxation B 75 A1 B 18 (27,056) (47,927)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate R P AS B % 16.5%
of 16.5% (2010: 16.5%) EZBB
—T—TE  165%) (4,464) (7,908)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses ~ FA[ 1T G FE 8,917 18,717
Tax effect of non-taxable income PR BBRARN MG E (12,487) (4,279)
Tax effect of temporary differences REEABERZERFERD
not recognised for the year Mg 45 (6)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ~ ANF & KRR 2 Fi 7% B 18 Y
for the year TRy 3% 9,543 4,419
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses B AL RBERZBBEE
previously unrecognised MRS E (87) (5,784)
Effect of different tax rates of EHEMANEEEREEZ
subsidiaries operating in other MEBARTRBENTZE
jurisdictions 2,215 (1,855)
Under-provision in previous years FERFERETR 2 1
Taxation charge I % 3,684 3,305

LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company to the extent of HK$29,820,000 (2010:
HK$51,197,000).

B.EARAERFEARGEER

ARAREZBEARGEETSE
29,820,000 L (Z & —ZF F .
51,197,000/ 7t) A AN A &) Bf 7 3 &
WEFA ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

14.OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 14. Efe 2 EWA
2011 2010
=E——-F _"ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Exchange reserve: ME 5
Exchange differences on translation HBRE G SN B A m B 7S
of financial statements of overseas WmERZIERERE
subsidiaries 4,513 199
Reclassification adjustments: B O MEAE
— Realisation of exchange reserve —HEHB AR RER
on disposal of a subsidiary ME W (&
(Note 34) (H1it34) 1,568 -~
Net movement in the exchange FH 2 T WA RERR
reserve during the year recognised RNERZEN #HiEFE
in other comprehensive income 6,081 199
15.BASIC LOSS PER SHARE 15. 8 REXRE IR

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based
on the loss for the year attributable to equity holders
of the Company of approximately HK$29,203,000
(2010: approximately HK$51,194,000) and on the
weighted average number of 2,888,604,778 (2010:
2,785,655,730) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share is not presented as the potential
shares arising from share options granted during the year
ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 have an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic loss per share.

BREXNEEDNREBARARRE SR
B A AFE E 1B %29,203,000
B (ZZF—ZF : 451,194,000
L) RFRE BEITERRMNEFS
#2,888,604,778 (=T —ZT F :
2,785,655,7300%) 5T & -

ARBE-F-——F=A=T+-AR
—E-FE=AS+—ALFRAR
R T 4 B R B SR
EABRENRBEVE  HILA2
51|45 AR 2 A5 A
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - WEKRRKRE

Leasehold  Leasehold Furniture  Construction
Leasehold ~ landand  improve-  Plant and Motor and in
buildings  buildings ments machinery  vehicles fixtures  progress Total
HEtH  HENE BE &R
HERT RkEF £ R#& ot kkE HEIR it
HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK§'000
TR TR TR TR TR AR TR TR
THE GROUP 558
Cost B
At T April 2009 RZEENFNA-A - 3900 - 61 3,087 1,031 - 8,079
Addtions i - - 39 174 288 285 38 824
Acquisition of subsidiaries ~ WEMEAT
(Note 33) (H#33) 3,788 - - 16926 - 190 9 2096
Exchange realignment EiE% - 12 - - 7 - - 19
At 31 March 2010 R-F-FE=f=1-A 3,788 3912 39 17,161 3382 1,506 80 29868
At 1 Apil 2010 RZE-TFNA-A 3,788 3912 39 17,161 3382 1,506 80 29868
Additions RE 3,508 - - 9925 461 106 36 14,036
Disposals & - - - - - @7) - #7)
Reclassification EEi | 120 - - - - - (120) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HEREAT
(Note 34) (Hit34) - - - (54) (264) (53) - (371)
Exchange realignment EX A 166 173 - 754 1 16 4 1,204
At 31 March 2011 R-F-——%=A=1-H 7582 4,085 39 2778 3,690 1528 - o
Depreciation, amortisation 17 » B#RHE
and impairment
At T April 2009 RZZENFNA-H - 3,689 - 17 1,778 697 - 6,181
Depreciation provided RERHERR
for the year 5 17 3 186 555 134 - 900
Exchange realignment ERBE - 12 - - 5 - - 17
At 31 March 2010 R-2-2F=A=1-A 5 3718 3 203 2338 831 - 7,098
At 1 April 2010 RZE-TFNA-A 5 38 3 203 2,338 831 - 7098
Depreciation provided FERNERR
for the year 402 16 19 2,715 337 226 - 3,715
Eliminated on disposal HERHH - - - - - (26) - (26)
Disposal of a subsidiary HEHBRA
(Note 34) (Wi34) - - - (29) (159) (29) - 17
Exchange realignment EiE% 10 165 - 73 84 4 - 336
At 31 March 2011 RZE-—FZA=1-H 417 3899 22 2962 2,600 1,006 - 10906
Net book values RERE
At 31 March 2011 RZB--E=B=1-8 1,165 186 17 24,824 1,090 502 - 33,804
At 31 March 2010 RZE-FE=ZA=1-H 3,783 194 36 16,958 1,044 675 80 22,770
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

The Group's leasehold buildings are situated in the PRC
held under medium term lease.

The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated in
the PRC held under long term lease. As the prepaid land
lease payment cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease payment is
included in the cost of land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment in accordance with
HKAS 16.

Depreciation expense of HK$3,031,000 (2010:
HK$176,000) has been expensed in cost of sales and
HK$684,000 (2010: HK$724,000) in administrative
expenses.

At 31 March 2011, one of the Group's leasehold buildings
with carrying value of HK$3,676,000 (2010: HK$Nil) is
pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the Group
(Note 28).

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_Z——F=A=T—HILFE

16.% - BERKRE ©)

AEEZHERTNFEKLIAHH
HOFHE -

AEBZHEET W EREBFURPEK
ARPHEOFHE R BENHEHEL
RETERL W EEFEASEM D
o At = HERBAREE B S
EUF1RIZYME - WFELREZ®
EHEBERLIHREFTRAZA -

WERSZH > 3,031,000 T2 5 AH
ERA(ZZ—FF 176,000 7T) -
m684,000& LAt AITHER (ZF
— T4 724,00087T) °

RZZE——F=ZA=+—H £A&H
BRI {E A3,676,0008 L (ZE—F
FTBET)CHEBFZ —HER
NERBETASBE 2RITEBE (Hi
28) o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

16.PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. % - MERKZE &)

(continued)
Furniture
Leasehold and
improvements fixtures Total
HEVERE KRREE mat
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET
THE COMPANY PN
Cost B A<
At 1 April 2009 N_ZEZNFMHA—H - 343 343
Additions 1% 39 158 197
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H 39 501 540
At 1 April 2010 W-E—TFPWA—H 39 501 540
Disposals & - (47) (47)
At 31 March 2011 WZE—-——F=A=+—H 39 454 493
Depreciation and e N
amortisation
At 1 April 2009 N_ZEZNFMA—H - 203 203
Depreciation provided RNERNERE
for the year 3 45 48
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-—ZEF=A=+—H 3 248 251
At 1 April 2010 RZZE-ZFFMA—H 3 248 251
Depreciation provided REFFERE
for the year 19 64 83
Eliminated on disposals o5 B 3 8H - (26) (26)
At 31 March 2011 RZE——F=A=+—H 22 286 308
Net book values REEE
At 31 March 2011 R-ZFE-——%=A=t+—H 17 168 185
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZTF=A=+—H 36 253 289

China Gamma Group Limited  Annual Report 2011



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

17.INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 17.REM=E
THE GROUP
rEE
2011 2010
—B2-—F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TR FHET
At beginning of the year RF A 50,967 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WP B A E (Mit33) - 40,628
Additions = 15 -
Disposals k= (185) (197)
Fair value gain (Note 7) NP EWRE (Hit7) 1,098 10,406
Exchange realignment ME 3, 58 B 883 130
Transfer to inventories ERERER (52,778) -
At end of the year JINECSEES - 50,967
The investment properties were revalued at 30 KB BEMEMKANITIERERBE
September 2010, being the date of transfer to properties RARIRZZE-—FTFNAA=+H R
held for sale, and 31 March 2010 on market value basis ERERHELREMEZR) KT —
by RHL Appraisal Ltd, an independent firm of professional ZFE=ZRA=+—HBRBMEZEET
property valuer, as to approximately HK$52,778,000 BERf REVEZAFEINOR
and HK$50,967,000 respectively. The fair value gain of 52,778,000/ 7t %50,967,0007% 7T °
approximately HK$1,098,000 and HK$10,406,000 had #71,098,000/% 7T X 10,406,000/ 7T 2
been credited to the consolidated income statement for ATERRESRFABE T ——
the year ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 FZ=A=1T—"BRZZE-—ZF=H
respectively. =T —BUEFEZWGERA -
The Group's investment properties comprised: REBZIHEYERE
2011 2010
—B2-—F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TR FHET
Properties situated in the PRC REFER T EAERE
held under medium-term land ZIRREZ 3
use rights - 50,967
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

18.LAND USE RIGHTS 18. 1 ith fE A1
THE GROUP
rEE
2011 2010
— g5 Z—T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHERT THIT
CosT B
At 1 April REA—AB 12,173 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WM B AR (MiE33) - 12,173
Exchange realignment bE 5, 3 B 535 -
At 31 March KR=R=+—H 12,708 12,173
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION Rt #e
At 1 April REA—B 37 -
Amortisation provided for the year NEFEHH B 457 37
Exchange realignment BEE 5, 38 B 13 -
At 31 March Wn=R=+—H 507 37
NET BOOK VALUE SREFE
At 31 March R=A=+—H 12,201 12,136
The Group's interests in land use rights are outside Hong AEERLEREZERUNES
Kong with medium term leases. BASN - SARIBEHHEOFE
At 31 March 2011, the Group's land use rights with N-ZE——FE=-A=+—0 &~&£HE
carrying value of HK$12,201,000 (2010: HK$Nil) are BRMEE A12,201,0008 L (ZE—F
pledged to secure bank borrowing granted to the Group BT v T BRI DA
(Note 28). RETAREB 2 RITEE (H7728) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's cash-generating units
(CGUs) identified according to country of operation and
business segment.

The goodwill arose from the acquisition of Zibo Liyuan
Gamma Ray Technologies Co. Limited (“Zibo Liyuan")
in March 2010. Zibo Liyuan is identified as a separate
CGU and reportable segment — gamma ray irradiation
services. The recoverable amount of the gamma ray
irradiation services operation has been determined
based on a value-in-use calculation, which uses a cash
flow projection based on financial forecast prepared by
management covering a 5-year period. The discount
rate applied to cash flow projection is 10% and cash
flow beyond the 5-year period is extrapolated using zero
growth rate. Based on the valuation results prepared by
the management, the management considered that there
is no impairment charge needed to be made against the
goodwill as at 31 March 2011.

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

19. GOODWILL 19.5 8
THE GROUP
TEH
2011 2010
— g5 C—ZT-ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
COST AR
At 1 April REA—H 31,201 7,609
Arising on acquisition of a subsidiary U B S /BB 1 R BRF EE A
(Note 33) (K17#33) - 23,592
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note) LENB AR (ML) (7,609) -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 23,592 31,201
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT ZFRE
At 1 April MmA—H 7,609 7,609
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note) LEMB AR (M) (7,609) -~
At 31 March R=R=+—H - 7,609
NET CARRYING AMOUNT REFE
At 31 March WR=R=+—H 23,592 23,592

AERER A
BEREFEERRLREB D DR
EXRKEERNNERESELEM (RE
EEFEL)

BEDR T —FTF = AREEER
RE R e R AR 2R (08 EF
R B ES - MBARIIHER S — ]
BEReELBMNEARD E— M35
B AR DR AT AR A% o 10035 5 AR PR O AR 7% %
Bz R E e B REEREETE
MPAETE  HEAFEDERERE
BEEMRAEZAELFHBE MK
BEZREREBEMSH - RER
EHEBAERMZMBIRERI0% M H
FZRZBEREDNERTERET
UHE REEEEMRHE CGES
R EEEBERSEEN T ——F=
A=Z+t—BzZBEFELRERX -

PEMIBEBEBRLZI 2011 F3f
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19.

Impairment tests for goodwill (continued)

Management determined the budgeted sales and gross
margins based on past performance, expectation for the
market development and planned production strategy.
The discount rate used is pre-tax and reflects specific risks
relating to gamma ray irradiation services.

The goodwill is included in the gamma ray irradiation
services business segment disclosed in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Note:

The goodwill arising from acquisition of Beijing Yo Luan Property
Development Company Limited amounting to HK$7,609,000
had been fully impaired during the year ended 31 March 2009.
During the year, the carrying cost of goodwill and the related
accumulated impairment were eliminated on disposal of this
subsidiary (Note 34).

20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20.
Unlisted shares, at cost JE LM - BEAE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE L Bt JB 1 &) TR IE
Allowance for impairment Ve RIERE Y
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A< BT /B A R FRIE

China Gamma Group Limited  Annual Report 2011

B8 #)

BERENR(E)
EEBREBEAEERE MHBRZA
HIARBEHIRI 2 EmREEERAEH
EBREMNER - PIERZBRESH
ATRE IR R - 3 S BR B2 {00 356 5 4% FR 5T AR
BHEEZFERR -

R IS R R RS £ T 5 B
2 BT RGRA B MR N 6P E
W -

Brat

Wt R R EthEREBRARELE Y
47,609,000 TEREBE_STNF
ZAZT—ALEFERBERE RAF
B AEZEERAREEZFRERT
BB A R RIS (A 5734) -

N PSR £
THE COMPANY
ENANC

2011 2010
= i
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT TAT
600,158 613,477

(366,799) (377,399)

233,359 236,078
(148,694) (147,849)

84,665 88,229




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

20.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The Company's cost of investments in the unlisted shares
of its directly held subsidiaries is less than HK$1,000.

Amounts due from (to) subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment. In
the opinion of the directors, the amounts will not be
repayable within twelve months of the balance sheet date
and are accordingly classified as non-current.

In view of the subsidiaries which sustained losses and
had poor operating performance, not financially capable
of repaying to the Company, the directors opined that
it is appropriate to make an allowance for impairment
of HK$366,799,000 (2010: HK$377,399,000) after
considering the profitability, financial positions, cash flows
and future prospects of these subsidiaries.

Movements on the allowance account are as follows:

At beginning of the year T4 4]
Impairment loss recognised BRI EEE
Reversal of allowance o 5

At end of the year R F 4

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2011 are set out in Note 42.

PEMBEEBERLZI

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

20 AMIB AT 2R (&)

KRB REEEFSEENH B AR ZIE
EHRRHIEERARDRT,0008 7T ©

FEYR () P B A B 2 FRIB AR SR
BNELERTERYP - EFRR
BRERBESIENEE R+ =
AREE -BAlt  ZFFEACHESR
FRBEE -

ERNZEWBRRIBESRBSEER
BERBXRE METHREREER
RFAQA A EBEZEZS
MEBARZ&BFEE D B
BeRERARINSBRRABEZIE
1366,799,0008 7L (=T — T F -
377,399,000 70) 2 B EEE -

BERE 28T
2011 2010
—g—-% -—T-%T%
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FERT FAET
377,399 363,829
— 13,570
(10,600) -
366,799 377,399

ARABEEBWNBRAN _-_T——F

= A=+t BZ#FBIEHNHEAL2 -

2011 F£ %]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

21.INVENTORIES 21. 78§
THE GROUP
EH
2011 2010
—B2-—F —T-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THET FE T
(a) Inventories in the balance @) EEBRERAZIFERE
sheet comprise:
Building materials MR 26 375
Properties held for sale BIEHEMHE 32,751 -
32,777 375
THE GROUP
rEE
2011 2010
i
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FET
(b) The amount of inventories b)) XFEEHERRAXZ
recognised as an expense FE2HE
during the year:
Carrying amount of EHEFERESHE
inventories sold 21,545 1,374
Reversal of write-down 1% [0 77 & WUR
of inventories - @)
21,545 1,370
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f#§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

22.PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 2. BEPYE
THE GROUP
#EH
2011 2010
—F-——-F -7
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FE T
At beginning of the year RF A 40,110 -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WEEH B A& (K75#33) - 40,006
Additions NE 24 _
Exchange realignment ME W B 1,763 104
At end of the year R F 4R 41,897 40,110
The properties under development represent medium BRAMYEENTPE A+ HE R
term land use rights in the PRC. HE o
23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 23.BREZ R AEMIRE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
rEE AT
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g——% -T-TF =¥—-F -FT-IF
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000
FHx  TET  TEx  TAX

Trade receivables e E 5 8R T8 3,774 3,246 = -
Less: allowance for ORI
impairment 2,901 2,901 = -
Trade receivables, net  EWE 5 RIBFE 873 345 - -
Other receivables and ~ H th fFE U BR 18 K2
prepayments (Note) TETRRIE (f 7 34,325 11,663 53 104
35,198 12,008 53 104
In the opinion of the directors, all of the above trade EERR LAMARKE S REAM
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or BRIEREF AN —FRAKRBXERRE
recognised as expense within one year. e
The directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade EERREKRES REMEREZRE
and other receivables approximate to their fair values. BEEHENFEMRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

The Group allows an average credit period of 60 days to
90 days to its trade customers. The ageing analysis of the
Group's trade receivables, based on the invoice date and
net of allowances, is as follows:

3. EWNESZREMIRIE (&)

AEEETHEESEPFINF60H
EORZEEHR AEEERER
IR INGRRER 2 EKE SRENK
oM e

THE GROUP
rEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THERT FET
Up to 30 days 308 310 252
31 to 90 days 31290H 385 46
91 to 365 days 91&2365H 178 47
873 345
The movements on the allowance for impairment are as REEE 22T :
follows:
THE GROUP
rEE
2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FET
At beginning of the year T4 4] 2,901 3,091
Impairment loss recognised ERRHESE 98 106
Uncollectible amount written off Hf 8 K W [B1 518 - (184)
Unused amounts reversed BoREASE (98) (112)
At end of the year R 2,901 2,901
The uncollectible amount written off for the Group during 7R £ B A A SN R Uk B 2k 1R 4a %8 >
the year is in aggregate less than HK$1,000. F2 1,000 7T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

At 31 March 2011, trade receivables of HK$2,948,000
(2010: HK$2,901,000) were impaired. The amount of
allowance for impairment was HK$2,901,000 as at 31
March 2011 (2010: HK$2,901,000). The individually
impaired receivables mainly related to a number of
customers that were in financial difficulties and have
remained long overdue.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are
considered to be impaired is as follows:

Less than 6 months past due B H D6 fE B
6 months to 1 year past due BHI6ME A =14
1 year to 2 years past due BMHE2F
Over 2 years past due B E2F

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables that are not
considered to be impaired is as follows:

Not yet past due i) 7 380 5
Less than 6 months past due B HR D 61E A
6 months to 1 year past due B HAGME A = 14F

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

3. EWNESZREMERIE (&)

W_E——F=ZA=Z+—H EBYK%
Z 58 1E2,948,0008 T (Z 2 — &
% :2,901,000% 7T) EERE - B
TE-—F=-A=+-BZRER
# £2,901,0008 L (Z T — T F :
2,901,000/ 7T) ° {6 Bl &k (& &9 FE W BR
B FTESRBEBAMREE LK
HRRZEE -

RRBTREZEWE S REARE D
e

THE GROUP
rEE

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FHET
78 -
25 -
42 119
2,803 2,782
2,948 2,901

RREEREZEWEZREREKD
e

THE GROUP
AEE

2011 2010
—2—-§ -—T-T4
HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHR T
545 195
328 121
- 29
873 345
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

23.TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continved) 23.FEWE 5 Kk HAi1BRIE (&)

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance
sheet date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
or other credit enhancements over these balances. All of
the other classes within trade and other receivables are
neither past due nor impaired with good credit quality.

Included in trade and other receivables is the following
amount denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Renminbi AR
Note:

As at 31 March 2009, other receivables and prepayments
included an amount of approximately HK$27,517,000 mainly
paid for the first level of land development on certain areas of
Huairou District of Beijing (“the Lands"). Such land development
works included the removal of the existing buildings situated on
the Lands, the relocation of the existing residents, the provision
of infrastructure systems including roads, drainage system, water
pipes, gas and electricity supply and the construction of public
facilities.

The directors are of the opinion that there has not been any
satisfactory progress of relocation of the existing residents
since the termination of previous disposal of such project to an
independent purchaser in November 2009 and, after taking the
advice from its PRC lawyers, consider that the recoverability of
the costs incurred for the first level of land development was
remote. Accordingly, impairment loss of the amount brought
forward of HK$27,517,000 has been recognised and further
costs incurred of HK$2,840,000, totalling HK$30,357,000 (Note
8), were expensed in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2010.

REEAMAAR z&GREERRA
tREWREZERZAFE - AEH
WERZFBHRE TR RNE
fiERED AN EEERRE &
PrEEMEKRE S REMEREMLE
B EFRIE o

JEWE 5 R H M BRIES B35 T 5 3
NARBZINEEERE BB 2 88

THE GROUP
A%
2011 2010
—g—-%& -—T-%%
‘000 '000
F 5 FiE
28,785 10,499

Hrat -

MN-BEAE=ZA=+—H0 HibEKE
H R IEMRIERIEL 527,517,0008 7T
FEERAtEmEZEE TR ([ZL
)BT R IFE - Z LA TR
BIEEHRZ T ENREEEY  EFNL
BERAER - IEHERIERF (BIEE
B BEKES KE  BEREREEHHER

EERBE BA-TTAE+—ARILHEE
ZHEEBTEVYETNUR  ENTERERE
RIKRBMBEANSARENERE  £E&
FREZEMZERERABRE — R i
FTEAZKAZATEEERM - Fitt - B
AR 458 4 527,517,000 T RE R E
B REAZE—FFET2,840,000% 7T -
A #£30,357,000%8 7T (17#8) EREE =
T—ZTF-AZF+—HILEFEZEHEAL
8 ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

24.FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20 B FHEHFARRZ
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS TREE
THE GROUP
rEH
2011 2010
- - —E-ZTF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Listed securities held for trading: FEEEZ FhaEH
— Equity securities — Hong Kong —-RAFEHF BB 5,522 7,677
— Equity securities — Overseas —RAZFH—FH - 2
Market value of listed securities @ EsEmE 5,522 7,679
None of the carrying amount of interest in listed securities REEH EmESEENERE@EY
exceeded 10% of total assets of the Group at balance THBAREEEERLTEI0% °

sheet dates.

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B.B1ERBEEEHER
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
REE AN
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g——% -T-THF —¥——F -—T-ITF
HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET FERT FHET

Bank balances and cash RTEHR MRS 19,757 7,218 508 1,922

Cash and cash equivalents include the following for the pEeReREHREXMNE R kR
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows: ERBEERRETISE

THE GROUP

rEH

2011 2010

=E——-F —ZE-TF

HK$'000 HK$' 000

FERT FHET

Bank balances and cash as per above  $R77&E R RIRE - 0 bl 19,757 7,218
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

25.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 5. e RBEEEEEE (&)

Included in cash and cash equivalents in the balance BEBBERNRASARESSHEER
sheet are the following amounts denominated in BTN RRBI 2 ER RE
currencies other than the functional currency of the UK S -

Company to which they relate:

THE GROUP THE COMPANY
AEE FINUNE|
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F —T-ZFTF ZB——F —ZT-ZFTF
000 "000 000 "000
T Tt T Tt
United States Dollars ESie - 5 - -
Renminbi AR 12,224 1,016 3 493
26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26 ENEZREMIRE
THE GROUP THE COMPANY
AEH PN/
2011 2010 2011 2010

—g—-F -—F-TF —B-—-F —T %
HK$'000 HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT  THT  FEE  TEE

Trade payables JERTE 5 RRIE 81 185 - -
Other payables and H fth & A BR 1A

accruals K AT BR 55,375 34,788 6,022 5,579
Amount due to a director JENEE I 3,600 - 3,600 -

59,056 34,973 9,622 5,579

In the opinion of the directors, all of the trade and other EERR MBEZLREMENER
payables are expected to be settled or recognised as BAR —FAXMTRER B WARLIEZ
income within one year or are repayable on demand. ERTE -
The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest free ENESRELAEETF 28R HE
and has no fixed term of repayment. & E & RHR o
The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade EERRENESREZREERE
payables approximates to their fair value. NFERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

27.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables is as
follows:

Up to 30 days 308
31 to 90 days 31290H
Over 90 days 90 H

Included in trade and other payables is the following
amount denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency of the Company to which they relate:

Renminbi AR
AMOUNT DUE TO A NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDER OF A SUBSIDIARY

The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary is unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand.

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

26 ENESZRHEMIRIE (&)

AEBRNESERBAZREDHAOT

THE GROUP
AEM

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
52 7
- 3
29 175
81 185

RENEZMEMERESE TIILIEAR
RAEAIZMEEE REMLNDHE

THE GROUP
TEH
2011 2010
—E——F —E-FTF
000 000
Fr T
14,242 25,506

27. BN B2 R ER BRI

e — MK B ARz — & FFEBAR
FORB AT - EAE RN BREE
% o

PEMBEEERLZIT

2011 F£ %]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #5RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

28.BANK BORROWING 28.RITIEE
THE GROUP
rEEH
2011 2010
—E——-F —ZT-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current RE
Bank borrowing (unsecured) RITEE (EER) - 7,393
Non-current FERE
Bank borrowing (secured) RITEE (BEMR) 9,501 -
Total borrowing BEARE 9,501 7,393

The non-current bank borrowing mature until 25
September 2012 and the average effective interest rate of
the bank borrowing is approximately 7.313% per annum.
The average effective interest rate of the current bank
borrowing was approximately 6.903% per annum.

The fair value of the non-current borrowing is
approximately HK$8,517,000. The carrying amount of
short-term bank borrowing was approximate to its fair
value.

The carrying amount of borrowing is denominated in the
following currency:

Renminbi AR

At 31 March 2011, the non-current bank borrowing is
secured by certain leasehold buildings and land use rights
of the Group (Notes 16 and 18).

At 31 March 2010, the short term bank borrowing
was secured by corporate guarantees given by a non-
controlling shareholder of Shanghai Hualong Construction
Co., Ltd, a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
and its affiliates.

EREBBITEEEE T —=-F 1A
“THEBES ROTEEZFHER
MEOEFERNRTIIZE - RHIRITE
BEZ¥FHERF XL BT F E6.903
Eo

ERMEE 2 RFEL A8,517,0008
T MR ITEEZCERAEHEEAT
BEHE -

EENEEENRTIEESITE

i :

THE GROUP
A%E
2011 2010
—g—-% -T-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH THT
9,501 7,393

R-ZE——F=A=+—H " FEid
BITEENAEEETHEEFR L
Hh{F FAMEIEIEIR (ATt 16K18) »

RZZE-ZTF=ZA=1+—H0 EHR
THERERARAFR—HIFEEEMBRR
LBEEEZRARARZ —RIFER
RN EBE AR R 2 BRERIE
PR -

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2011



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

29.DEFERRED TAXATION 29 R B IE

BEERBABLREGARERINGZ
TRZHEBWT

Details of deferred tax liabilities and amount charged to
consolidated income statement are as follows:

THE GROUP KE&E
Revaluation Properties
of investment held for
properties sale Others Total
EERENE BELENR Hitr @3t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR ThER TR
At 1 April 2009 RZEZNFENA-A - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 33) WEMB AR (Wi233) 3,028 - - 3,028
Charged to consolidated income BfEalEENR
statement (Note 12) (it12) 2,594 - 710 3,304
Exchange realignment 5 A% 14 - 1 15
At 31 March 2010 R-F-ZF=FA=1-H 5,636 - 71 6,347
Charged to consolidated income FalERnk
statement (Note 12) (it12) 3,436 - - 3,436
Reclassification BB (9,401) 8,062 1,339 -
Exchange realignment 5§ 329 - 3 360
At 31 March 2011 RZFE——%=f=+—-H - 8,062 2,081 10,143

At 31 March 2011, the Group has unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$274,204,000 (2010:
HK$268,112,000), part of which has not yet been
agreed with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department,
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in respect of the tax losses due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in
unutilised tax losses as at 31 March 2011 were losses of
approximately HK$21,113,000 (2010: HK$22,770,000)
that would expire in five years and the remaining balance
would not expire under the current tax legislation.

At 31 March 2011, the Group has other deductible
temporary differences of approximately HK$435,000
(2010: HK$366,000) in respect of allowance for
impairment recognised. No deferred tax assets has been
recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
differences as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. These deductible temporary
differences do not expire under the current tax legislation.

R-E——FE=A=+—H AEH
AHEMRREN 2 RFERARBEE
B4 AE274204,0008 L (Z T —=F
F 268,112,000 7T) * D8 M
AESHEEMBRRE - AR TEETE
SFARBHEF KR - MW R ZRIEE
BHERAEERBEEE KT ——F
ZA=Z+—H HAXEAMBKER
ZEBE 211130008 T (2 —=F
122,770,000 T) Al RER A F A E
H - MR T A RRIRIR A BB EG A
RENH] -

R-ZT——FE=A=+—H KEH
T MR BB B 2 ] H00R R
ERHBA35,0008 L (ZE—FF ¢
366,00087C) * AR ATEETEEERE
AR ANEETNRERESR
WY ERZEAVHNREREZEBRE
ERIEEE - REBEBRITRBEN - %
EAHMRE R EZ R AR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

30.SHARE CAPITAL 30. g A<
Number of shares Amount
R 58 E &8
HK$'000
FAET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each: BB E{E0.01E T2 T&ERE
Authorised: ETE
At 1 April 2009, RZZZAFHA—R
31 March 2010 and —E-TF=HA=+—-Hk
31 March 2011 —T——FzZA=+—H 15,000,000,000 150,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
At 1 April 2009 R-EEAEMA—H 534,386,298 5,344
Exercise of share options IR 82,750,000 828
Bonus issue of shares BITHL IR 2,250,545,192 22,505
At 31 March 2010 and R-T-FF-A=t-HEK
1 April 2010 “T-TEWA—A 2,367,681,490 28,677
Exercise of share options (Note) TR BB AR RE (W 7t) 88,000,000 880
At 31 March 2011 R_E——%=A=+—H 2,955,681,490 29,557
Note: HtiE
During the year, options were exercised to subscribe for REAFE BREETENANERR fﬁ
88,000,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration 12,282,000/% 7T 7. #88,000,000/% & 2
of HK$12,282,000 of which HK$880,000 was credited to 3@ % - H 880,000/ sTEt AR AR ﬁ%
share capital and the balance of HK$11,402,000 was credited ®11,402,000/8 &t A B 10 5 B BR (47 7
to the share premium account (Note 32) together with a 32) - 3E[A2,298,000/8 7T B M AL e RE B
transfer of HK$2,298,000 from the share options reserve to BERMOREER ANFERRITEBRE
the share premium account. Details of options outstanding and REEFIEHAM LI -
movements during the year are set out in Note 31.
All the ordinary shares issued during the year ranked RAFENBITZAAEBREER
pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ¥ﬁﬂw%ﬂ

respects.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 24 April 2002, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2002 Scheme”) which will expire on 23
April 2012 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
to directors, eligible employees and consultants. Under
the 2002 Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may at its discretion offer to any employee, including
executive directors, or consultants of the Company and/
or its subsidiaries options to subscribe for shares in the
Company at a consideration of HK$ 1 for each lot of share
options granted. Options granted should be accepted
within 30 days from the date of grant.

The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company and will not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of the shares on the date of grant, (ii) the
average closing price of the shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant, or (iii) the
nominal value of the Company's shares.

The total number of shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the 2002 Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date
of shareholders’ approval of the 2002 Scheme, without a
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The maximum aggregate number of shares which may
be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the 2002 Scheme
and any other schemes, must not, in aggregate, exceed
30% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue from time to time.

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

31. B R EST

AAGBR-_ZEZT—FM A -+ HE
M—EERN_ZE-——_FWMA-1+=8
EmeERETE 2T =F5
2 EFZEMNEARERB TS
EE AEBEEMEH -BREZZT
T_FHE ARRESTEAREM
FfEE (BEAAR R LEWBE R
RIZHMITESSER) REAREAR
ARz ERE - R ERE S
REABIBT BHZBEREENIEL
HERF =T HRmEER -

TEEBRARRESFETE  $HER
UTIBEZEE  (VERLDBHOK
YT E + ()R A HAT R E & % H
PAn SF M THAE ¢ k(i) AR R A E
TE o

BRIEESAARBRES LU MAE - THI
BB _FE]TFTREZER
A REBODBRE - TNEBBANT
RIERE-_EE-_FHEEBZD
BEITRR D 109% °

BRI —TT —F5 8 MEMEAME S
EREMERITEZETEINNE
PR A BIT R A] T#IT 242
B REIFEBARANED T
e dn 48 8130% °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31.IBREFE (&)

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms
of the 2002 Scheme at any time after the date upon
which the option is granted and prior to the expiry of 10
years from that date. The period during which an option
may be exercised will be determined by the board of
directors in its absolute discretion, save that no option
may be exercised more than 10 years after it has been
granted. No option may be granted more than 10 years
after the date of approval of the 2002 Scheme. Subject to
earlier termination by the Company in general meeting or
by the board of directors’ resolution at a general meeting,
the 2002 Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years after the date of adoption of the 2002
Scheme.

The maximum number of shares (issued and to be
issued) in respect of which options may be granted to any
eligible person in any 12-month period shall not exceed
1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue, unless a shareholders’ approval has been obtained.

The following tables disclose details of the Company's
share options held by directors, employees and consultants
and movements in the 2002 Scheme.

RIE-TT _Fot &8 2GR BAE
AREEERLEREEMZBET
FREMABERSITE - BREZA T
EHEREZTS2RNITETE &8
BRETERERE+FRITE R
TE_FA S E AR T F1&
BASELBERE - BRIEARTRK
RREIREFENRRAREZRFE
RIEEFRIGE TR —FT—F
AERRRA T _FErEE AR
TEHABM LR

B OSBRI ESN  RER+ —{E
AHEARMEAEEBRALAFEY
BB N 2 ER MK T EITR
M#}E  RETEEBAATDET
B fn #8819 ©

TREBR-TE_FHERET -
1B REM A AR R 2 BEER
HEBHE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=-A=+—HILFE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. R ERT & ()
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-Z——F=ZA=+—-HLHFE
Number of share options
EREHR

Weighted
average
closing
share price
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed immediately
Date price Exercisable ~ Outstanding ~ duringthe  duringthe  during the ~ Outstanding before
Crantee of grant per share period  at 31.03.2010 year year year at 31.03.2011 exercise date
REAE
R-%-%% R=2--% BEHRG
ZR=+-H ZR=t-B  mETH
ARA REEE  BROEE ATEAE WAGE  EARY  ERAR EREN HAGR K
HKS HKS
BT Bn

Directors

g%

Ho Chi Ho 17.09.2007 02420 17.09.2007- 18,000,000 - - (18,000,000) - N/A
%% 16.09.2010 TR
11.05.2009 0.0730 31.072009- 225,000,000 - - - 225,000,000 N/A
10.05.2012 NER
Ma Kwok 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 N/A
Hung, Warren 15.09.2012 TER
SEE 2501.2011 0.1500 25012011~ - 500,000 - - 500,000 N/A
24012013 AR
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- 2,500,000 - - - 2500000 N/A
R 15.09.2012 TR
25.01.2011 0.1500 2501.2011- - 500,000 - - 500,000 N/A
24012013 TER
Wong Hoi 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 N/A
Kuen 15.09.2012 TER
EHE 25012011 0.1500 25012011~ - 500,000 - - 500,000 N/A
24012013 TR
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009~ 2,500,000 - - - 2,500,000 N/A
RisE 15.09.2012 ek
25012011 0.1500 25012011~ - 500,000 - - 500,000 N/A
24012013 TER
Hung Hing Man~~ 25.01.2011 0.1500 2501.2011- - 500,000 - - 500,000 N/A
LEX 24012013 TR
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 3. BREE (#)
For the year ended 31 March 2011 (continued) BE-Z——F=ZA=+—HLEFE
(%)
Number of share options
BREZE

Weighted
average
closing
share price
Exercise Granted  Exercised Lapsed immediately
Date price Exercisable ~ Outstanding ~ duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  Outstanding before
Crantee of grant per share period  at 31.03.2010 year year year at31.03.2011 exercise date
REAE
R=%-8% H=%2--% BEARH
ZR=t+-H ZAZt-B  NMEYH
ARA RERE  SROEE A ERE WAGE  FARY  ERAR FREN HAGR ke
HK$ HK$
B Br
Employees 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- 500,000 - - - 500,000 N/A
& 15092012 il
2501.2011 0.1500 2501.2011- - 118,000,000  (61,000,000) - 57,000,000 0.1602

24.01.2013
Consultants and ~ 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- 54,000,000 - (27,000,000) - 27,000,000 0.1280

other eligible 15.09.2012
participants 25012011 0.1500 25012011~ - 157,000,000 - - 157,000,000 N/A
BERAM 24012013 i

RERSEA

307,500,000 277,500,000  (88,000,000) (18,000,000) 479,000,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=-A=+—HILFE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31. B R#ERTE (@)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 HE-_ZT-—ZTF=-A=1T—HIEFE
Number of share options
BRENRE
Weighted
average
closing
share price
Exercise Granted Exercised Lapsed immediately
Date price Exerciseble Oustanding ~ duringthe ~ duringthe ~ duringthe ~ Outstanding before
Grantee of grant per share period  at 31.03.2009 year year year at31.03.2010  exercise date
Z2RAOR
RZZENE R-Z-FF BENRH
ZA=1-EH ZAZt-B METH
HRA RiAH  BRTRE A7 HATRE  FREL  FRTR FAXR BARR Y
(Note b) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Hith) (Hith) (Hitc)
HKS HKS
BT BT
Directors
g%
Ho Chi Ho 06.03.2007 02244 06.03.2007- 7,500,000 - - (7,500,000) - N/A
E% 05.03.2010 )i
17.09.2007 0.2420 17.09.2007- 18,000,000 - - - 18,000,000 N/A
16.09.2010 T @R
11.05.2009 00730 31.07.2009- - 225,000,000 - - 225,000,000 N/A
10.05.2012 (Note g) TER
(Hita)
Ma Kwok 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 N/A
Hung, Warren 15.09.2012 MER
Chow Siu Ngor 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 N/A
FE 15.09.2012 T
Wong Hoi 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000 N/A
Kuen 15.09.2012 TER
EiGE
Chan Chi Yuen 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 2,500,000 - - 2500000 N/A
RisE 15.09.2012 TER
Hung Hing Man 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 2500000 (2,500,000 - - 0.1862

LEX 15.09.2012
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_ZT——F=A=1+—HLLEE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 3. BREE (#)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 (continued) BE_ZT—ZEF=-A=T—HLEE
(%)
Number of share options
BRENE

Weighted

average

closing

share price

Exercise Cranted  Exercised Lapsed immediately

Date price Exercisable Outstanding ~ duringthe ~ duringthe ~ duringthe  Outstanding before

(rantee of grant per share period  at 31.03.2009 year year year at31.03.2010  exercise date

ZRR

RZZENE RZE2-T£  OHIRD

ZA=t-H ZR=t-B  mETH

ERA RiAH  BRTRE AR HATE  FREL  FRTR FAXR RARR Y

(Note b) (Note b) (Note )

(i) (Hitb) (i)

HKS HKS

BT AT

Employees 16.09.2009 0.1160 16.09.2009- - 20,600,000 (20,100,000) - 500,000 0.1862
& 15.09.2012

Consultants and ~ 05.06.2006 0.0540 05.06.2006~ 59,200,000 - (56,150,000)  (3,050,000) - 00797
other eligible 04.06.2009

participants 11.102006 0.0646 11.10.2006- 63,000,000 - (63,000,000) - - 0.1243
ERREL 10.10.2009

BERZEA 16092009 0.1160  16.09.2009- - 108,000,000  (54,000,000) - 54,000,000 0.1862
15092012

147,700,000 366,100,000 (195,750,000) (10,550,000) 307,500,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

©

As

These 225,000,000 share options are vested in four
tranches with (i) 20% exercisable on 31 July 2009;
(i) 20% exercisable on 11 February 2010; (iii) 30%
exercisable on 11 August 2010; and (iv) 30% exercisable
on 11 February 2011.

The Company made a four for one bonus issue of shares
on 19 October 2009 (the “Bonus Issue”). For share options
remained exercisable on 19 October 2009, adjustments for
the Bonus Issue were made to the effect that the number
of share options have been increased by four times and
the exercise prices have been decreased accordingly. These
adjustments were made in accordance with the rules of the
share option scheme.

The share price at the date of exercise for shares options

exercised during the year was after adjusting for the Bonus
Issue on 19 October 2009.

at 31 March 2011, the fair value of the share options

granted during the year was HK$7,166,000 (2010:
HK$8,340,000). The Company recognised share-based
payment of HK$8,362,000 (2010: HK$7,144,000) during
the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=-A=+—HILFE

31. B AES & ()
Kzt

(@) #225,000,0001 i f& 1 51U & 56 15
B HR0)200R _EThF
A=+—HBA17 : (i)20%n = F
—ZF B +—BAT{E  (ii)30%
RZE—ZFNA+—BHTE: &
(iV30R —E——F=_A+—AH7
1118 -

b) ARATR-BEAE+A+ABERSE
1 — R 19 T AR AT R (T AT AR
#17)) c RZEBAEFT AT RN
AT B AR B2 B AT PR 54T 1E M 2
% L RBRERERE BRI
075 (8 (B Bt T LR D » E T
RIRE R B 2 AT AR -

O FREREETEESAZBRMHITEE
EEE-_ZTAF+A TN AARE
TTIEHAEE -

W—_ZT——F=ZA=Z=+—H BR
HERE L AFEABT7 1660008
7T (ZZ—Z 4 8,340,000 7T) °
FRNARABRUABRDBEER
1 58,362,000 T (=& —Z F :
7,144,000/ 70) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

31.SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 31.IBREFE (&)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is
estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model (the “Model"), taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. Details of the fair values of share options
determined at the date of grant using the Model with
significant variables and assumptions are as follows:

TR ARG E 2 BEN R FE
RELBBIAB N = - @S HER
A IEX]D) HEH XEEEELE
Pt 2 R e k1 - BRABE AR X
HEMUAZEAEEZAFEREE
REFHLEROFBEWT

Date of share options grant

BRESLHBEH
11.05.2009  16.09.2009  25.01.2011
ZEBEAF ZBEAF —E——F
EFA+—8H hWA+"EB —HA=t+HH
Exercise price (HK$) TR E BT 0.0730 0.1160 0.1500
Dividend yield R B A 2 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility T8 HA R 08 48.39%-55.78% 50.187% 47.593%
Risk-free interest rate #2 J Be F) R 0.363%-0.700% 0.352% 0.280%
Expected life of option FEER B IR
(years) (%) 1.5-2.4 1.5 1
Closing share price R ARG KHE 0.0740 0.1160 0.1500
at grant date (HK$) (&)

The expected volatility, which is based on the approximate
historical volatility of closing prices of the share of the
Company in the past one year immediately before the
date of grant, reflects the assumption that the historical
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not
necessarily be the actual outcome. The risk-free interest
rate represents the yields to maturity of respective Hong
Kong Exchange Fund Note as at the share options grant
date. The expected life of the options is based on the
historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise
patterns that may occur.

No other features of options grant were incorporated into
the measurement of fair value.

BEHRBERAAFBRONERREL
B AT B £ — F 2 W E 8K 18 &
B RRE S REAIRRRKRBE K
TR ARBASERER - BERF X
RERNEEBEBIEESRER 25
MR - BREZERRBFRT
ERBELEHNMERE SRS RBRE
AIBEHR ZTTEM AR

AEATERTEFLEREZER
R E AL R IE -
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31.

32.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 479,000,000
(2010: 307,500,000) share options outstanding under
the 2002 Scheme which represented approximately
16.21% (2010: 10.72%) of the Company's share in
issue at that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 479,000,000
(2010: 307,500,000) additional shares and additional
share capital of HK$4,790,000 (2010: HK$3,075,000)
and share premium of HK$131,560,000 (2010:
HK$25,188,000) (before issue expenses).

RESERVES

THE GROUP

The contributed surplus of the Group represents
the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account of the
Company and the credit of an amount of approximately
HK$610,247,000 of the Company’s share capital
cancelled in 2002 and the contribution of approximately
HK$26,719,000 from the placing of warrants in 2002 that
had expired in 2003.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued
by the Company in exchange for the nominal amount of
share capital of its subsidiaries acquired at the date of a
previous group reorganisation.

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the
net assets of the Group's foreign operations from their
functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency
(i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the foreign operation.

31

32.

PEMBEEERLZIT

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

JERAERHE ()

750 EH BE_ZTT_FHHE K
yNEC] FLJ B479,000,000 (=& — &
i 307,500,0008% ) A 17 {5 % A 4 -
EARRNBRZBHEBITHREAY
1621% (ZF—ZFF : 10.72%) °
ZEHRTERERTZHTE  BARQ
RIIREEARZRE - $5EE479,000,000
f% (ZZ—=4% :307,500,0000% ) Z84)
1T M B INIR AN 4,790,000 T (= &
— T4 1 3,075,000 7T) K& 5 IMNE D
B 131,560,000 T (ZF—ZFF :
25,188,000 7C) (GRIBREITER) ©

e

rEE
REEZHARBRIBTHERARKRN
i 1 BR 1 448,000,000 T MR =&
T OFFHEARNARIRAELE610,247, ooo
BTERMR-_ZET_FRENRZ
T=FEmz wHﬂEé;’éFﬁ%?ﬁkIE%@
26,719,000 7t °

AEBENFRIFEERARFRFAHN
SEEMAA Fﬁ*ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬂﬁﬁ
AREETRAREREZSNEB A
AEENER °

HEAGAEBEBIN R 2 FEERRD
REBHRBEEAKEZIEE (AE
T BRzERERDERNEMER
WA TER I IR OE 5 8 B AT » % FN
EXFEERAZELZERNHERI
EBREHOIBRERR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

B RE IR AR AL

32.RESERVES (continued) 32.f# s (#)
THE COMPANY ¥ NN
Share Capital Share
premium  redemption  Contributed options  Accumulated
account reserve surplus reserve losses Total
EXEE
R EER RE  HABBR BRERE  ZiER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS' 000
TER TR TR TR TEn TEn
Balance at 1 April 2009 RZEENEMA-AER 593,840 13878 907,760 6956  (1414748) 107,686
Share options granted RitBhiE - - - 7,144 - 7144
Exercise of share options TEERE 20,504 - - (5344) - 15,160
Bonus issue IR%ES (22,505) - - - - (22,505)
Share options lapsed BREXN - - - (938) 938 -
Total comprehensive expense FEERARMLEE
for the year - - - - (51,197) (51,197)
Balance at 31 March 2010 RoB-ZESA=T-BI2EE 591839 13878 907,760 7818 (1465007) 56,288
Share options expenses RRESH 2,298 - - (2298) - -
Share options granted RiERE - - - 8362 - 8362
Evercise of share options 1 ERE 11402 - - - - 11402
Share options lapsed BIRELK - - - (2726) 2726 -
Total comprehensive expense AERREXNEE
for the year - - - - (29,820) (29,820)
Balance at 31 March 2011 RoB-—EZf=+-B2E8 605539 13878 907,760 115  (1492,101) 46232

BREFREREROIERRKITEZ
BRENDTE - ZEERBREET
s HEE/IABRMDEER =
SR BERERMKREUER - R
EREHER °

The share options reserve represents the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to accumulated losses should the related
options expire or be forfeited.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #§RacMicE

32.RESERVES (continued)
The contributed surplus of the Company represents:

(i) the difference between the consolidated shareholders’
funds of the subsidiaries at the date on which
they were acquired by the Company, and the
nominal value of the Company's shares issued
for the acquisition at the time of a previous group
reorganisation;

(i) the cancellation of an amount of approximately
HK$48,000,000 from the share premium account
of the Company and the credit of an amount of
approximately HK$610,247,000 of the Company's
share capital cancelled in 2002; and

(iii) the contribution of approximately HK$26,719,000
from the placing of warrants in 2002 that had expired
in 2003.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus account of the
Company is available for distribution. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus if:

(a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company's assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

In the opinion of the directors, the Company had no
reserves available for distribution to shareholders at 31
March 2010 and 31 March 2011.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

32. & (&)

KRB AR

() RNRABAEEZHERRREE
BGERRECHFHEESE
ARSI BB P B 1T 2 AR R
EEZR

(i) FEARABRMDEEERETH
48,000,000 7T U RN =F
T_FEHARABRAZAN
610,247,000/ T © &

(i) R=ZFZF_FEER=FTT=F
& 2 o8 B HE RE 2 B 1S SRR A
26,719,000/ 7T

*EB““EEZL AN—FREE (B
7)) AR TZ%’U\%%EET@“[& °

o IR TIER - AR
E%&W\Eﬁﬁﬁiﬂﬁkiﬁﬁﬁ’x‘%\iﬂ’ﬁﬁ%
K

(a) AR BEE AR 3% A B 1R &
FEEFHEE K

(b) ARREEZAZHREBESAEAM
PRERE R BHTBRARK
R ER=%Z &M -

E=R —ZEF=-A=1+—
EI&_T——E A=+—8B &2
A A R TR 2 A e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§RacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

33.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. B KB A A

On 15 June 2009, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest in Chongging Sunrise Property Development
Company Limited and Chongging Feng Hong Ji Enterprise
Company Limited (together, the “Chongqing Sunrise”) for
a cash consideration of RMB70,000,000. The acquired
companies are principally engaged in investment and
properties holding. The principal assets of the Chongging
Sunrise are properties mainly for commercial use, car park
lots and a land parcel located at Yubei District, Chongging,
the PRC, that can be built for residential purpose.

On 8 March 2010, the Group acquired 80% equity
interest in Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray Technologies Co.
Limited (“Zibo Liyuan”) for a cash consideration of
RMB44,000,000. The acquired company is principally
engaged in the cold pasteurization of food and
sterilization of medical products utilizing advanced gamma
ray technologies in Shandong Province, the PRC.

Details of aggregate net assets acquired and goodwill
were as follows:

Purchase consideration settled in cash  EIR& X T 72 R E

RZBEZNFR_ZEENF
YRHZBEEES

FTRE 2 EEFEZATE

Cash deposits paid in 2009
and 2008

Fair value of net assets acquired
— shown as below

—HIREATR

Goodwill (Note 19) B8 (Kat19)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of Zibo Liyuan
is attributable to the immense potentials in food safety
business, especially in the cold pasteurization of food
utilising gamma ray technologies.

RZZENFAA+THEB AEEK
BERBAEHMEREERAARE
BELAEEXEREAAR (HEIE
BMB] 225 RE  HBRRSRE
A AR #70,000,0007T ° ATHEE 2 A
AEERERERTBEME -EEHE
BT EEEATERBERARZY
¥ FESRUATFREEM IR
AR - ZM AR A BEEEEE -

R-_ZT—ZTFE=-ZANB ANEBKE
SEFRSREBRRMARAE ([
EFJR]) 80% 2 #z - HBABR & NRE
A A R ¥44,000,0007T © FTUREE 2 A
AEEEFBRILREHERATEM
BHGEMERREARRREER
EmHES -

Pz BEEFEREEZFHBN
T

Chongqing Zibo
Sunrise Liyuan
EEMEH H 8RR
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THETT THETT

- 50,208

76,795 -
(76,795) (26,616)

- 23,592

WEEBAMRMEE 2HERBRM
RETRZEXRED  FHI2HEAM
B ARMERMETERRE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33.ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The aggregate assets and liabilities arising from the

acquisitions were as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
(Note 16)

Land use rights (Note 18)

Investment properties (Note 17)

Properties under development
(Note 22)

Other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Trade and other payables

Deferred tax liabilities (Note 29)

Non-controlling interests

Net assets acquired

Purchase consideration
settled in cash

Cash and cash equivalents
acquired

Net cash outflow arising
on acquisitions

M- WE REE
(Hati6)
T E AR (Arat18)
WEME(KiE17)
BRERPYE
(M a£22)
H th g Uy BR 18
HRekBE2EHEH
FERTE 5 Rk H A RIS
EEBIER R (K#7£29)
JE4E AR 25

FrieiE 2 & E %A

AR & S 2 Wi B

T 2R e R
ReEFHER

WEELS ZH SR IFRA

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_Z——F=A=T—HILFE

33.WEEM B AT (&)

WHREEZREERBEDT

Acquirees’ carrying amount

WKWB AR ZREE
Chonggqing Zibo

Sunrise Liyuan Total
EEMR o R L
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
TET FET FET

5 20,941 20,946

- 12,173 12,173

40,628 - 40,628
40,006 - 40,006
21 1,891 1,912

378 2,579 2,957
(1,215) (4,315) (5,530)
(3,028) - (3,028)
- (6,653) (6,653)
76,795 26,616 103,411
- (50,208) (50,208)

378 2,579 2,957
378 (47,629) (47,251)

PEMBEEEERLZI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

33.

34.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Acquisition related costs paid in 2009 of approximately
HK$6,887,000 have been included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Included in the loss for the ended 31 March 2010 was
profit of HK$7,269,000 attributable to the additional
business generated by Chongging Sunrise, and loss of
HK$192,000 attributable to Zibo Liyuan. Revenue for the
year ended 31 March 2010 included HK$2,007,000 in
respect of Chongging Sunrise and HK$207,000 in respect
of Zibo Liyuan.

If the above acquired businesses had occurred on 1
April 2009, the Group’s turnover would have been
approximately HK$6,302,000 and loss for the year
ended 31 March 2010 would have been approximately
HK$54,250,000.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 21 January, 2011, the Group disposed of a subsidiary,
Beijing Yo Luan Property Development Company Limited
which was engaged in the 1st level of development
project at Yang Jia Yuen Village, Huai Ro Town, Huai
Ro District, Beijing, the PRC for a cash consideration of
RMB38,000,000 (HK$44,659,000).

33.

34.

B RE IR AR AL

W EE F B N B ()

R-ZEZNEFX 2 WEEBEK A
#76,887,000/8 L E T AL S WamEK A
ZITHEBRA -

ERMANEEBEE 2R A
7,269,000/ 7T MOSTERIRE £ 2 BB
192,000 LEFTABE=S—ZF =
A=+ RLFEEBFB -BHE=-ZT—
EFE=-A=FT—HLEFERABEX
B EEBHE 22,007,000 7T M 5K 85
B FJR 2207,000/8 T °

i LB EBEER ST NAFN
A—B%4E AAKEZEXRH/G
416,302,000 T  MBE T —F
FZA=T-HLFEZBBEREAH
54,250,000/ 7T °

HE—EHELQF

RZE——F—H=Z+—H Xx5H
HE—HMWBRAARLRREEE
FEARAR  EEEPEItRMIE
FZREFEBRENH —RHAZIE
B HeREARARK38000,0005T
(44,659,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

34.DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued) 3. HE—RBMB AT (&)

HK$' 000
FHT

Net liabilities at the date of disposal: RHEEBRHZFEE

Property, plant and equipment mE - BER&E

(Note 16) (Kiiti16) 154
Other receivables and prepayments H i jE WK IE & FB N kI8 323
Bank balances and cash RITHEBREIR S 177
Other payables and accruals H o fE (T R IE R EET B A (6,487)
Net liabilities FARE (5,833)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary: HEMB AR 2K :
Cash consideration ReRE 44,659
Net liabilities disposed of HEZFEE 5,833
Cumulative exchange differences in MEBARZ FaEH

respect of the net liabilities of BaEfoErtERER

the subsidiary reclassified from Z REER =R

equity to profit or loss on disposal (Krat14)

(Note 14) (1,568)
Gain on disposal (Note 7) & W (MaE7) 48,924

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HEELEZHRERAFE:

Cash consideration REeRE 44,659
Bank balances and cash disposed of HECRITEHR KRR S (177)

Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents HEWBAG 2R &

in respect of the disposal of MReHEER

a subsidiary AR 44,482
The subsidiary disposed of during the year contributed FAMEEZMBARIATEE 2 &
approximately HK$Nil to the Group's turnover and loss XEERONTE L  HAKBFRAZ
of approximately HK$5,409,000 to the Group's loss from & BEE BB #5,409,000/ 7T ©

operations for the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

35.CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 35. 8 R IE
The Group and the Company had no significant capital RHREAEER  RNERE RARRQGNE
commitments at both balance sheet dates. ERERZ ERALE -
36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 36. RAEE
The Group had no significant contingent liabilities as at RAEEER  NEBIWESKHRA
both balance sheet dates. BE-
The Company had contingent liabilities in respect of ARvEAmMETERRBRZME QT
financial support given to certain subsidiaries which have REMBZXEAERSEFELER
capital deficiency to allow them to continue as a going BEEEIH I BEEMBARAAE -
concern and to meet their liabilities as and when they fall
due.
37.0PERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 37. R EHNZHE
The Group as lessee AEBEREBEA
The Group made minimum lease payments of AEBFTAREMLESTED XG]
approximately HK$6,547,000 (2010: HK$4,426,000) VZRERNVELREBOMNRK
under operating leases in respect of office premises 476,547,000 T (ZE —FF :
during the year. 4,426,000/ 7C) ©
At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments REER  REBEBZTRBELE
for future minimum lease payments under non- MAAERRFKEBYNEFK - HLE
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows: WEHNT
THE GROUP
rEH
2011 2010
—2—-—-F —ZT-FF
HK$'000 HK$000
FHET THET
Within one year —F R 3,213 3,148
In the second to fifth year inclusive MEERF (BREEMF) 518 926
3,731 4,074

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable
by the Group for certain of its office premises and
warehouses. Leases are negotiated and fixed for an
average term of one to three years.

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2011
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

37.OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

(continued)

The Group as lessor

At the balance sheet date, the Group had commitments
for future lease receipts under non-cancellable operating
leases which fall due as follows:

B REERAR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=A=+—HILFE

37.8LHOZH (#)

FEEERBEEA

REER  AEBEARTAIRELE
HHOARRRERS W BHHE
mERIT

THE GROUP
TEH

2011 2010
—E——-F —ZT—TF
HK$'000 HK$' 000
THET FHET
Within one year —FNR 317 373
In the second to fifth year inclusive MEELF (BREEMF) 47 190
364 563

Operating lease receipts represent rentals receivable
by the Group for letting of its properties held for sale/
investment properties. Leases are negotiated and fixed for
an average term of one to three years.

The Company had no outstanding commitments under
non-cancellable operating leases at both balance sheet
dates.

REMRHYGRIE RN RB B LB EFE
HEWE REMEZEWES - A
HWEEHER—E=F -

RMEER ARRTERBITZN
AT HR 8 A0 2 AR 4RI o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f5sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 38. KR e B
(a) Financial instruments by categories (@ %ﬁEUﬂﬁZQ@\IE
The accounting policies for financial instruments have AR N ERMB TR Rt
been applied to the line items below: HEHIAT -
THE GROUP ES 3.
Financial

assets at fair
value through

Loans and profit
receivables or loss Total
BATE
EXR FARR
FE W R 18 ZEREE okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL THET THT
Assets as per consolidated RGEEEEEER
balance sheet ZEE
At 31 March 2011 R-B-—-%#=ZA=t-8H
Trade and other receivables ERE 5 R E M RE 35,118 - 35,118
Financial assets at fair value BRATEGFABRZ
through profit or loss (Note 24) cREE (Wit24) - 5,522 5,522
Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEHEE
(Note 25) (Hit25) 19,757 - 19,757
Total k) 54,875 5522 60,397
At 31 March 2010 R-Z-FF¥=A=1-H
Trade and other receivables JEWE 5 R EABRIE 9,556 - 9,556
Financial assets at fair value BRATEGFABRZ
through profit or loss (Note 24) SREE (Mit24) - 7,679 7,679
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeSHER
(Note 25) (Hi#t25) 7218 -~ 7218
Total k] 16,774 7,679 24,453
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BE-Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. MK EBRERE (@)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued) (a) BERESZzEMI A (£
Financial
liabilities measured
at amortised cost

BKAaE
R R
HK$' 000
FET
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet RiFEEEEBRZAEE
At 31 March 2011 R=-ZF-——F=RA=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FEE 5 R B A BRIE (K7 :t26) 59,056
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of & Fff B A 5] JE 12 AR AR 3R
a subsidiary (Note 27) TIE (H15t27) 20,827
Bank borrowing (Note 28) RITEE (#1:228) 9,501
Total 18 RE 89,384
At 31 March 2010 R-ZE-Z2F=A=+—H
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FERTE 5 kA A BRIE (M i£26) 34,973
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder of & {<f fff BB A &) 3E 1% AR A 3R
a subsidiary (Note 27) HIE (K at27) 18,985
Bank borrowing (Note 28) RITEE (A :228) 7,393

Total 438 61,351
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. KB ERE (&)

(a) Financial instruments by categories (continued) (a) BERESzeMI A (&
THE COMPANY Z N
Loans and
receivables
ERREWRE
HK$' 000
FHET
Assets as per balance sheet REERBRZEE
At 31 March 2011 R-—B-——%=A=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) JE W2 Bt /&8 A B 5K 1B (K1 5#20) 233,359
Other receivables H {th fE I AR 18 37
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) RekBReFHRELR (WWit25) 508
Total 48 233,904
At 31 March 2010 R-ZB-ZF=A=+—H
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note 20) JE U Bt /B8 A~ =) SR IB (B 5220) 236,078
Other receivables H th & Uy AR 18 64
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 25) RekRSFEER (Hit25) 1,922
Total R 238,064
Financial

liabilities measured
at amortised cost

MKAE
2 18 86 B A
HK$' 000
FHET
Liabilities as per balance sheet REERBRZAEE
At 31 March 2011 R-B-——5=A=1+—H
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 20) FE AT BT B8 A B3R IE (K 7#20) 148,694
Other payables (Note 26) H i & (< BR 18 (A7 5226) 9,622
Total k] 158,316
At 31 March 2010 R-ZZE-2F=A=+-—H
Amounts due to subsidiaries (Note 20) JE 1~ Bt |8 A 1 SR IB (B 5£20) 147,849
Other payables (Note 26) H h & < BR 18 (A7 5226) 5,579

Total 4z 153,428
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B #53RakMicE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of its
business and financial instruments. The Group's risk
management objectives and policies mainly focus on
minimizing the potential adverse effects of these risks
on the Group by closely monitoring the individual
exposure as follows:

(1) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due
to adverse movements in foreign exchange
rates relating to investments denominated
in foreign currencies. The Group's assets
and liabilities are primarily denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. When seeking to
optimise the returns on its funds available
for investments, the Group has certain
investments in foreign operations, whose
net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk.

At 31 March 2011, if Hong Kong dollars
had strengthened/weakened by 10%
against RMB, with all other variables
held constant, equity would have been
approximately HK$10,605,000 (2010:
HK$8,070,000), lower or higher.

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
assuming that the change in foreign
exchange rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to each
of the Group entities’ exposure to currency
risk for financial instruments in existence
at that date, and that all other variables, in
particular interest rates, remain constant.
The changes in foreign exchange rate
represent management’s assessment of
a reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rate at that date over the period
until the next annual balance sheet date.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

38. (IR EE ()

(b) HHEBEE
AEBZ ZHEH BRI HRER
M5 E L (B IMNE R B ﬂﬁﬁk
pREREAR)  EERR AR
*Q%i‘%?@ﬁ&i&ﬂlﬂ;’%ﬁz
nBELAR - ANEERERERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

0,

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in
above represent an aggregation of the
effects on each of the Group entities’
profit or loss and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rate ruling at the balance sheet date for
presentation purposes. The analysis is
prepared on the same basis for 2010.

Interest rate risk

Except for cash and cash equivalents, the
Group has no other significant interest-
bearing assets. The Group's income and
operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest
rates. Management does not anticipate
significant impact on interest-bearing assets
resulted from the changes in interest rates
because the interest rates of bank deposits
are not expected to change significantly.

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rate arising from the Group's bank
borrowing denominated in RMB.

Borrowing at floating interest rates exposes
the Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.
Details of the Group's borrowing have been
disclosed in Note 28.

The Group has not used any interest rate
swaps to hedge its exposure to interest
rate risk. In order to manage the cash
flow interest rate risk, the Group will repay
the corresponding borrowing when it has
surplus funds.

38. A EE (©)

(b) HBEBREZE (&)

(1) T5E

0,

(i)

5% (4&)

SNERR (&)
ERZoWMERDIZE
EEB A EER
BT 2 (RERE
2B ERETE - WA
HERAZERERAS
BIEZRF 2 ) 2 4858 -
ZE-ZEFFUAR—E
BERE o

M = 2 b

RELRBLFEIN
AEBIEREMEAZ
FARREE - AEBEHK
ARKEEReREER
FARERT ISR EE BT
Ve EEEBLTREY
HEBE G BEE

EEBERTE HEH
RITERARBETK

REBZHSRENEK
BT EEHRAEE
MAR®IME 2 RITHE
BELZMERE -

FENEREEERNEE
HER2MENER

cBEBEAKERBEZ
HE ERHEEMBR
T FE28 7 5R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. (IR EE ()

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)
(i) Interest rate risk (continued)

(b) BBEABER (&)
(1) 5 EE (&)
(i) =@ (E)

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to

AT 8ERED T RE
MERIFBRITEEZ

interest rates for the floating rate bank MEREBRETE - 7R
borrowings at the balance sheet date. For RITEEMS - Lo
3 3 + s

floating rate bank borrowings, the analysis is DBRENEERZRE
BEREREBEFEAR

prepared assuming the amount of liabilities
outstanding at the balance sheet date was
outstanding for the whole year.

EEMERE -

At 31 March 2011, if interest rates on N_ZFT— —F =8
floating rate bank borrowing had been 25 =t EI fin )% BER 1T
basis points higher/lower with all other fEEMEES E1K25
variables held constant, loss for the year B BT A 2 BUR
would have been approximately HK$24,000 BAE - AFEBES
(2010: HK$6,000) higher/lower, mainly as # 0,/ #924,000%
a result of higher/lower interest expense on T (ZF—FF 16,000
floating rate bank borrowing. BIL) TERERTFE
B2 ME Xz 1 hn
SR e

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared
with the assumption that the change in
interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to

BREDMIDERBRR
MEBEHDNEE A
AmAEE XERZE
BARERFE M

the exposure to interest rate risk for the e T EMIHERE
relevant financial instruments in existence M EEBIENZA
at that date. The changes in interest rates REETN—HFERS
represents management’s assessment of AzHERN ERER
reasonably possible changes in interest M =& 3F AT RE 2 Z B F

rates at that date over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for
2010.

B2 & E e DT iR
TE-TFRAEER
8 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)  38. i S BB EE (&)
(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(1) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk

(b) MBEBEE (&)
(1) T5/EE (&)
@iy B R

The Group is exposed to equity securities
price risk for the equity investments held by
the Group which are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Majority of the Group's equity securities are
listed on the Stock Exchange and are valued
at quoted market prices as at the balance
sheet date. The Group is not exposed to
commodity price risk.

Listed investments held in the financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss
portfolio have been chosen taking reference
to their long term growth potential and
returns and are monitored regularly for
performance. Given that the volatility of
the stock markets may not have a direct
correlation with the Group's investment
portfolio, it is impractical to determine the
impact that the changes in stock market
indices would have on the Group's portfolio
of equity investments.

At 31 March 2011, it is estimated that an
increase/a decrease of 10% in the market
value of the Group’s financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, with all other
variables held constant, loss for the year
would decrease/increase by approximately
HK$552,000 (2010: HK$768,000). The
stated changes represent management's
assessment of reasonably possible
changes in the market value of the Group's
investment portfolio over the period until
the next annual balance sheet date. The
analysis is prepared on the same basis for
2010.

AAREEFE ZBRAEK
EW D BAREATER
AEBHZEMEE W
RNEBEEBRRAZS
BERE - NEBEZX
% IR AN T8 25 PO B A PR
EmWREERZAT
BmBERMGHE- $E
B &8 i m B R

ISRV Ei 7N -]
SFABRSEZERMEELZ
tHREEZ2REAKRH
I R B 7 A0 [0 ¥R B
EREREXRRE - RIE
REMS 2 BB EAE
EREHES T B

HEMEBENBERLT

BEBREMSERED
HBAGERSREHS
ZHERTYERN -

N2 ——%F=AH
=t+—H 2FHEMmE
ERFTEZERT
NEBZ A FEFAE
B ERMEECLTE
W A10% - FE
BB &R L4
552,000/ T (:%@—%?

& : 768,000/ 7T) °
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BAZHERN BEE
RAEBE®REHEG 2™
BzEEAIgEr #EE
HeffE e —Z T —ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 38. (IR EE ()

(b) Financial risk factors (continued) (b) MBEABER (&)
(1) Market risk (continued) (1) T5EE (&)

(iii) Price risk (continued)

The Company is exposed to other price risk
in respect of investments in subsidiaries.
The sensitivity to price risk in relation to
the investments in subsidiaries cannot
be reliably determined due to numerous
uncertainties regarding the future
development of these subsidiaries.

(2) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is principally attributable
to trade and other receivables and bank
balances. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk. It has policies in
place to ensure that sales of products are made
and services are provided to customers with an
appropriate credit history. The customer with
sound payment history would accumulate a
higher credit limit.

The maximum exposure to credit risk without
taking account of any collateral held is
represented by the carrying amount of each
of financial assets in the consolidated balance
sheet after deducting any impairment allowance.
Further quantitative disclosure in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
and other receivables are set out in Note 23.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited
because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high quality external credit ratings in Hong
Kong and the PRC.

(i) EEER (&)
$/&Tﬁﬁuuﬁffﬁ A B B
NAIRE 2 B EEE
b AEZEMBARZ
RRERY RKETHE
THRE -WPrEHBA
Al & B R b 2 Bk
ERGEAEEE ©

(2) EEmRE

AEEZEERBREERF
FEUE 5 Ko B BR 1R A 2 4R
T - AEETESES
R EERR - NEBEET
REZHE  AERAESR
REEECERZIEFPHEE
fn MR RTS - BREHR
H2EPAREBRSEER
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RIEEEERBERTETR
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. KB ERE (&)

(b) HHEBREE (&)
(3) RBED AR

(b) Financial risk factors (continued)
(3) Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group
are responsible for their own cash management,
including the short term investment of cash
surpluses and the raising of loans to cover
expected cash demands, subject to approval
by the parent company's board when the
borrowings exceed certain predetermined levels
of authority. Prudent liquidity risk management
implies maintaining sufficient cash and
marketable securities, the availability of funding
through an adequate amount of committed
credit facilities and the ability to close out market
positions. The Group aims to maintain flexibility
in funding by keeping committed credit lines
available and sufficient bank deposits to meet
short term cash requirements.

The following amounts are the contractual
undiscounted cash flow payments of the Group's
financial liabilities (including interest elements)
at the earliest dates the Group requires to pay.

AEEBETEMNEERZE
B AZBREHRSERE
BRACEKZEHREM
Ffﬂuﬁﬁ%%#Zﬁ
FR o MERERBAE D
EEZ S TKF - AR R
RAESEHESAEE -
BEREZRDECEREEER
REEFTRRERBE
EH - BBRRZEAHE
ERmESHRERAES LB
NFMERB - AEEEH
%ﬂﬁﬁTTE%ZE%
HEER URBESZE
EE W AERMRZRITF
Ao AENEHREFE -

TIRER—FAEBEIRN
EXRNRZAEECHE
B (BEMRMNNE) Z2E 43
BRIRIR @ RENM K -

More than one

Within one year  year but less

or on demand than two years Total
-ERg BBR—F
REX BLRME At
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL TAEL TAEL
At 31 March 2011 R=Z2--%=ZA=t-H
Trade and other payables ENE S RHMRE 59,056 - 59,056
Amount due to a non-controlling  FETHIB A AIFEER
shareholder of a subsidiary xR 58 20,827 - 20,827
Bank borrowing BIEE - 10,585 10,585
Total Bt 79,883 10,585 90,468
At 31 March 2010 R-E-BF=A=t+-H
Trade and other payables ENESREMEEE 34,973 - 34,973

FERHBARIEER

Amount due to a non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary BRFE 18,985 - 18,985
Bank borrowing RITIEE 7,903 - 7,903
Total @t 61,861 - 61,861
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Capital risk management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, so that it can continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and
manages its capital structure to maintain a balance
between the higher shareholder returns that might
be possible with higher levels of borrowings and
the advantages and security afforded by a sound
capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

Consistent with industry practice, the Group monitors
its capital structure on the basis of a net debt-to-
adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose the Group
defines net debt as total debt (which include trade
and other payables and bank borrowings) less cash
and cash equivalents. Adjusted capital comprises all
components of equity. The Group’s policy is to keep
that ratio at a reasonable level.

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

38. A EE (&)

(o) EXEmERE

REENEREERRE  2RB
¥ B R B K F AR 2 B am BOIR 7S
EEARAGEXRNERRE
KREAEBRFSELEEEH
BEEZRE  UBEARET
KO- FESRELMESITSE
ABIF 2R ©

AEBEBEGHBFEHREERERH
BARRRE - AR BERE KEE
ERR 2B HRER o & AR
ZEERZEZERFFE A
RIREBEAR N A EEL BRI -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

38. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3. KB ERE (&)
(c) Capital risk management (continued) (o) EXRMER (&)

(d)

The net debt-to-adjusted capital ratios at 31 March
2011 and 2010 are as follows:

R-B——FR-F-FF=f
St-BzERERHEAER
KHER -

2011 2010

—E——fF —ET-TF

HK$'000 HK$' 000

TET FHET

Trade and other payables 8B 5 & HE Mt ARIE 59,056 34,973
Amount due to a non-controlling  FE{THY B A RIIEIE A%

shareholder of a subsidiary fi% 5 FE 20,827 18,985

Bank borrowing RITIEE 9,501 7,393

Total debt (ERrEE 89,384 61,351

Less: Cash and cash equivalents B IRe MRS ERIER 19,757 7,218

Net debt B FE 69,627 54,133

Adjusted capital — Total equity SEEEY e g 105,142 109,157

Net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio B F 58 ¥ & A BE R At X 66% 50%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to either internally or externally imposed
capital requirements.

Fair values

The carrying value of financial instruments measured
at fair value at the balance sheet date across the
three levels of the fair value hierarchy defined in
HKFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, with the
fair value of each financial instrument categorised in
its entirety based on the lowest level of input that is
significant to that fair value adjustment.

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical financial instruments.

(d)

RABIEEFAMERRBRER
REB 3 SN S DN EY B AN KR TE T AR
iR -

DFE

ERITAZREERCEBME®
FEADETRISH TR KE
PSR TE 2 B S A i H) = {d
ERARFERE MEERT
AZ R FEAEZ AT EFER
EAZHEEBREABEMER

—E(BEE)  RARRASR
BB SE B 15 2 BB (R A0 28
JHEATHE-

& H
m
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38.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d)

(e

Fair values (continued)

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted prices
in active markets for similar financial instruments,
or using valuation techniques in which all significant
inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable
market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is
not based on observable market data.

At 31 March 2011, the only financial instruments
measured at fair value of the Group are financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss amounting
to HK$5,522,000 (2010: HK$7,679,000) and were
classified as level 1.

Estimation of fair values

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss is based on quoted market prices at
the balance sheet date without any deduction for
transaction costs.

The carrying values less allowance for impairment
of current receivables and of current payables are
a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
Estimated discounted cash flows at the current
market interest rate are used to determine fair value
for all these financial instruments (i.e. Level 3 —
lowest level).

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE_Z——F=A=+—HILEFE

3. A ERE (&)

(d)

(e

PEMBEEEERLZI

DV EE

F_E KRB ERTARE
BhiHcmE(REHE) - K
RMEEANE AL EZ R KK
IRAER T ISBUR 2 AR
SFEATE-

FoE(REE)  RAEMEAX
WALIFRBEABENSHRE
BERMEERFE -

MN-ZZE——F=A=+—H0 &«
SEH—ZAFEFEZESRT
BEABRATEFABRZZSHE
E - & ¥ 15,522,000 T (=&
—Z 4 7,679,000 70) © & 1E
BE—E-

AT AR
BEATEIABNZ 2REEY
ATFEEEE R 205 EE
CRES SIS T PES

A T {20080 B 20 e Uk B % K B 2R e
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B - RBATHRFEZ A
APHRASREDANEELSE
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RIEER) -

2011 F£ 1§

145




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B f§sRacMicE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

39. TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH 3. BEEREATZRE RER
RELATED PARTIES
During the vyear, the Group had significant transactions FRN - AEBHENTEBREATEST
with the following related parties, together with balances BARG  BERNFEEBERF 2&
with them as at the balance sheet date, details of which BAFEBT

are as follows:

2011 2010
—EBE——-F _ZE-TF
HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FERT FHET
Key management compensation REBETEEEAER
of the Group: fifE
Salaries and other short-term 7 M & At 3G HR
employee benefits EERH 2,473 5,188
Director: 5%

Amount due from the Group JE W AN & B R IE 3,600 -
Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant B EEIN FATEEMES
transactions with related parties during the year or MEATZEARGARANFEFLE
significant balances with them at the end of the year. BB EEEERNER
The balance due to a director is unsecured, interest free ENESEHABEET - £ BRI &
and has no fixed term of repayment. & 7 & AR o

40.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 40. ER@ERIFH&E
The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme AEBAREZEEBREBHITERSINE
(the "MPF Scheme") for all employees in Hong Kong. The AEeFEI((8ES d‘ilH) BEE
MPF Scheme is registered with the Mandatory Provident ElEmEbEABREEL - R
Fund Scheme Authority under the Mandatory Provident BEM ARSI ERERER - BIE
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the MPF Scheme ﬁquiUZé{FEEﬁ_Lx‘%}G 2 &
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds CHRAEBMZEENFHFEER °

under the control of an independent trustee.
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40.RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME (continued)

41

Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
at 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which
contribution is matched by employees. The only obligation
of the Group with respect to the MPF Scheme is to
make the required contributions under the scheme. The
contributions arising from the MPF Scheme charged to the
consolidated income statement represent contributions
payable to the fund by the Group at rates specified in the
rules of the scheme. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The employees in the subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of state-managed retirement benefits schemes
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are
required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefits scheme is to make the required
contributions under the scheme.

.LITIGATIONS

On 24 October 2007, Silver Wind International Limited
("Silver Wind"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a conditional agreement (the
"Acquisition Agreement”) with Stronway Development
Limited (“Stronway Development”), pursuant to
which Silver Wind agreed to acquire from Stronway
Development the entire equity interest in Winmax
Asia Investment Limited (“Winmax Asia”). Under the
arrangement, Winmax Asia will in turn acquire the entire
equity interest in Beijing Jianxing Real Estate Development
Co. ("Jianxing”) along with Jianxing's standalone villas
development project in Beijing known as "¥T27EE".
The aggregate consideration payable for the acquisition
was RMB433,000,000 which was to be settled in cash
and two villas. In December 2007, RMB20,000,000
was paid under the Acquisition Agreement to Stronway
Development by Silver Wind as deposit (the “"Deposit”).
Details of the acquisition are set out in the Company's
circular dated 14 December 2007.

B RE IR AR AL

For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE-_Z——F=A=+—HLLFE

40. R IRBRIGHE (2)

41.

PEMBEEBERLZI

REBBESHERA BELEEER
YRR EAH © 2 5% E MR - K
SEFBRES BB ERREF
BMEHIEE MR - RURas RN 298
BEE A BAKBERE SR
AR EL RAE RN ZHK - L HE
A AR DABIRR 2R 8RR B A (502 )R IR

{ﬁ%ﬂ\o

A

TEKEARZEE ST BB HET
ZEREERABHEKE - %F
MEBARVEAZRBREIEZETAD
e FARRAR AU B R AR
BAREES - NEBEZEKREF
AEgE—EERBREAEIELEEHR

%7\0
Eig
RZEEELF+AZ+HTA &K
ARz & &K B AR BSilver Wind

International Limited ([ Silver Wind])
HiStronway Development Limited
([Stronway Development]|) &1 37 & fi§
e (W aE]) - 5k Silver
Wind[& & mStronway Development!t
BIKTETAREBRRAA ([FLAKEE
KNI 2 2 EBIHE - RIFZ L HE - LK
TARSRBILREEFMAERER
[RAF([RRE]) 2 2 AR - ERE
BEIREBRIFELR] 2B
PEERER - RABWBFREENZ
HRER/E 2 AR®433,000,0007T
RMERE RZTTLF+=A"
Silver Wind7R # I # 1 3 [ Stronway
DevelopmentX 15+ A & #20,000,000
TEREZR ([&ZiER]) - WESEEZ
HBERARARZEZTLF+A
THA RS ZBEA e
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

41.

42.

LITIGATIONS (continued)

In April 2008, on the grounds, amongst other things,
that the subject matter under the Acquisition Agreement
was frustrated, Silver Wind decided to terminate
the Acquisition Agreement and, through its legal
representative has served a notice of termination to
Stronway Development. In order to protect the position
of Silver Wind and to recover, amongst other things, the
Deposit from Stronway Development legal proceedings
were instigated against Stronway Development on this
matter in the High Court of Hong Kong on 15 April 2008.

As at the date of this report, the legal proceedings against
Stronway Development are still pending and there is no
significant development.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company's principal subsidiaries at 31
March 2011 are as follows:

41.

42,

B RE IR AR AL

EENE D)

RZZEZNEFENA  ER(HFaHE)
WHE T 2 IR F IR KRR - Silver
Wind/R TE £ 1E W RE 1 e - 035 38 HOK
2R K [Stronway Developmentix iE
RIFBAIE o ARMESilver Wind 2 Fi 2%
Xz [A)Stronway Developmenti& 51 (H &
BIE) 2% 0 Silver WindiR =ZZZ )\
FOATHABREEREESE AR
¥Stronway DevelopmentfE A 22
% o

RASRE B §F¥Stronway

DevelopmentZ AR R PR - B
mEBEARNER -

TEMBRAAFE

W_ZT——F=ZfF=+—H  ARF
ZEBEWBARFBOT

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered the Company?*/  capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
LINC\R) |
RAMBERT AEEME
AL/ BRKRE/ Rx /it EBRORE
WEARERE i fff 4 B afEx EXEELA Bl TERK
% %
Captain Shore Limited BV US$1 100* 100 Securities trading
B ) g ES EFEE
Full Champion Financial BV Us$3 100* 100 Securities trading
Limited RERNAES IET EFEE
New Team Limited BV Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
RERUES 1%L REERR
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
HE—_Z——F=A=+—HILEE

42.PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL N2.FTEWBEQATFE#E)

SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Proportion of
nominal value of

issued share Effective
Paid up  capital/registered proportion
Place of share capital/ capital held by of issued
incorporation/ registered  the Company*/  capital held
Name of subsidiary registration capital subsidiaries by the Group Principal activities
LN |
RAMBERT  AEEME
gAY/ BRRE/ R&/&®/ ERGRE
WEATEH it fff 3 B dfEx EXEELA BRLA TEXH
% %
Power Rise International BV.L US$1 100 100 Securities trading
Limited RRENHS IES EFEE
Prosper City International Hong Kong HK$ 100 51 51 Trading of building
Limited ; 100 7T materials and provision
BEERERAA of renovation service
BEMHES R
RERBRS
Shanghai Hualong PRC US$11,080,000 51 51 Property development
Construction Co. Ltd. ‘:F 11,080,000 7T and sales
LTBERERBRAA NEERRHE
Sun Spread Group Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
RREEBRARA BE 1B RERK
Super Target Limited BV US$ 1 100* 100 Investment holding
RERUES 1570 RERK
Top Field Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HKS$1 100 100 Investment holding
EENRARR 7 1787 REEK
Unique Gold Investments Ltd ~ Hong Kong HK$ 1 100 100 Investment holding
RTREBRAF BE BT RERR
China Gamma Group Hong Kong HKS$1 100* 100 Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 0 17T REER
PEMEEE (BE)BERARF
ERBBRMEREBRAF PRC RMB20,000,000 100 100 Property Investment
(Chongging Sunrise Property AR 20,000,0007 NERE
Development Company Limited)
ERRLEEXARAMLAR PRC RMB10,000,000 100 100 Property development
(Chongging Feng Hong i th AR #10,000,0007 NEER
Enterprise Company Limited)
HEMRERHERRNBR QA PRC RMB29,000,000 80 80  Gamma ray imadiation
(Zibo Liyuan Gamma Ray i AR #29,000,0007 services
Technologies Co. Limited) UEHESE
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011
BHE-_Z——F=A=+—HILFE

42.

43.

44,

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during
the year. The above table includes the subsidiaries of the
Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the results of the year or formed a substantial
portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,
result in particulars of excessive length.

EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

On 3 May 2011, the Group entered into a memorandum
of understanding in relation to a proposed acquisition of
a 95% interest in a company which operates two mines
site located in Xiu Shan County, Chongging, the PRC with
vanadium reserves at a consideration of HK$350 million,
which will be satisfied by a combination of cash payment,
the issue of the consideration shares and issue of
convertible notes. The consideration and payment terms
will be finalised and agreed between the parties when a
formal sale and purchase agreement is entered into.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to
conform to the current year's presentation.

42,

43.

44,

B RE IR AR AL

FEMBRARFE®E)

RAFEFEEHRFREMEH -
MEARBEEFNEKES - LRE
REFRARYAEBAFEREBNX
BERFEINAEB 2EEFETH
BEERLHEZARAMNBAR - EF
RARHINEMMBLARAZENESR
fEdK -

REBRRBHE

W_ZT——FHA=H KNEBIFTL
—MESE AR BEBEREZKE M
N A5 IE T  FE RN B AL A
BEEMAUGMENREES  RE
/350,000,000 7T * AR T -
BITREROEBETIRRER A
ANEE - REERTFREFERERE
BB L2RARITNES T RERTE
KT ©

EEBRBF

ETHBEFELEHIR UFA
REZZZ2FTRA -

China Gamma Group Limited  Annual Report 2011



FINANCIAL SUMMARY BB #EZE

RESULTS E4

For the year ended 31 March
BE-ZHA=1t-HLFE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“TELEF —TTN\F —TTAF —_T-TF ZB——F
HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
THET THET THET THET FTHERT

Turnover L 10,024 8,410 3,902 3,762 30,473
Loss attributable to AN B RE
equity holders of A ARG
the Company &8 (22,993)  (99,379)  (78,812)  (51,194)  (29,203)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENERE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

“EELF -FEN\F -FEAF ~F-FF -8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F#E TR BT TAR  THEx

Total assets BEHBRE 368,715 284,182 195,016 176,855 204,748
Total liabilities BERE 69,934 75,567 64,611 67,698 99,606
Net assets BESFE 298,781 208,615 130,405 109,157 105,142
Non-controlling interests ~ FEIE A% #E %5 - - - 6,615 4,836
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES FZY¥ZEF15

Particulars of major properties held by the Group at 31 March

2011 are as follows:

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

o B

Phase Il of Phoenix Town
located at No.500 Hongjin Avenue,
Yubei District, Chongging, the PRC
o B & B T )80 4L [ AT 87 A B 5005%
Bl B354 3 2R

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Location

i Bh

Phase | and Il of Phoenix Town
located at No.500 Hongjin Avenue,
Yubei District, Chongqing, the PRC

rh B 2 B A1 3k [ 4T 87 KB 5005%
JEL V35 1 8 K2 2 HA

China Gamma Group Limited Annual Report 2011

Intended
use

BRERZ

Property
development

EGE:S

Existing
use

BEFRAR

letting
el

ARER-F-——F=A=+-AHEZ

TEYMEFBET

FREPYE
Site
area(sq.m.)

MR (F 5 K)

5,802.60

FEELEWR

Gross
floor area (sq.m.)

BEE®&(FEXK)

6,001.60

The Group’s
effective interest

FEEzERES

100%

The Group’s
effective interest

rEBECERER
100%






	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
	BALANCE SHEET
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	PARTICULARS OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
	BACK COVER

